INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality $6^{\circ} \times 9^{\circ}$ black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

IMI

University of Alberta

Implementation of an Injury Surveillance System at a Local Community Health Center Emergency Room

By Kien Hue Quan



in

Medical Sciences – Public Health Sciences

Edmonton, Alberta Fall 2001



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-69812-2

Canadä

University of Alberta

Library Release Form

Name of Author:	Kien Hue Quan
Title of Thesis:	Implementation of an Injury Surveillance System at a Local Community Health Center Emergency Room
Degree:	Master of Science
Veen This D	6 004

Year This Degree Granted: 2001

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except hereinbefore provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

Thiendhe

Kien Hue Quan 1412-49A Street Edmonton, Alberta Canada T6L 6H6

Date: July 23, 200)

University of Alberta

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled **Implementation of an Injury Surveillance System at a Local Community Health Center Emergency Room** submitted by **Kien Hue Quan** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Master of Science** in Medical Sciences – Public Health Sciences

ouis Hugo Francescutti (Supervisor)

Frances Lau (Committee member)

Garnet Cummings (Committee member)

Date JUNE 9, 2001

Abstract

This project describes the implementation of an emergency department (ED) injury surveillance system at a local community health center. The improvisational model of technological change by Orlikowski and Hofman is used as a conceptual foundation to explain the innovation process in this complex, turbulent and flexible setting. Key dimensions' interdependent relationship and its influence on workflow and data collection are explored.

Acknowledgements

My heartfelt thanks to the North East Community Health Center (NECHC) staff including nurses, physicians, registration clerks and others for being supportive during the project summer 2000. I would especially like to thank Carla Policcichio, NECHC health team leader for her unwavering confidence, support, and encouragement " we will make it, don't worry", Rhonda for special advice during the data collection trial. I would like to acknowledge the Emergency Department (ED) project team of Capital Health Authority (CHA) Information System for numerous suggestions and insights, particularly Jane Benz , Jane Percy, and Ja-Neen Simmie . I am indebted to Sue Barnsley, NECHC research staff at the time for her hard work in retrieving data and going through chart review. Special thanks to Kim Borden for her valuable input in preparing the injury surveillance data set and Nonie Fraser from Public Health for contributing initial data for the project and support.

I would like to express my sincere thanks to Louis Hugo Francescutti, my academic supervisor, who endured my two years plus within the department, provided guidance to the project, and opened up a new opportunity for my career. My heartfelt thanks to Francis Lau, member of my advisory committee, for his professionalism and consistent instruction. Francis Lau 's advice and expertise in the field of health informatics have been invaluable since my undergraduate years. Many thanks to Garnet Cummings, member of my advisory committee, for offering instrumental suggestions and support.

Thanks are also due to Gian Jhangri who made sure the project's descriptive statistics was on track and Bob Mckim, NECHC project evaluator, who provided

NECHC historical information and ,particularly, gave myself privilege to use his computer from time to time..

Contents

4

Chapter 1	Introduction 1
1.1	Injuries study and the need for data1
	Existing injury data collection practices1
	Scope of Thesis1
1.4	Organization of Thesis
	References

Chapter 2 Literature Review

_

2.1	Emergency Department (ED) surveillance system as a technological	
	Innovation	- 4
	2.1.1 Sources of injury surveillance data	
	2.1.2 Community ED electronic injury data collection	
2.2	Major streams on technological innovation	
	2.2.1 Organizational issues that influence information technology	ogy
	diffusion	
	2.2.2 Major theories and streams	8
	2.2.3 Improvisational model	10
2.3	Conditions justifying the model's application	11
2.4		

Chapter 3	Research Study	19
3.1	Project objective and research question	18
3.2 Research design		
	3.2.1 Study approach	20
	3.2.2 Research location	21
	3.2.3 Study phases	21

3.2.4	Technology	24
3.2.5	Subjects	25
	Method	
	ences	

Chapter 4 Findings

ter 4	4 Findings	
4.1	Planning phase	
	4.1.1 Current workflow at the NECHC	
	4.1.2 Perception	
4.2	Deployment phase	
	4.2.1 Test trial	
	4.2.2 Training	
	4.2.3 Workflow	
4.3	Assessment phase	40
4.4		
	4.4.1 Conceptual framework	41
	4.4.2 Major events and their interpretations	
	4.4.3 Major events and their relations with organization and techn	
4.5	Recommendation	
4.6	Conclusion	
4.7	References	

	5.3.3 Major Streams on Technological Innovation	63
	5.3.4 Conditions justifying the model's application	
5.4	Project Objective and Research Question	
5.5	Research design	
	5.5.1 Research location	
	5.5.2 Study phases	
	5.5.3 Technology (Appendix B)	
	5.5.4 Subjects	
	5.5.5 Method	
5.6	Findings	
	5.6.1 Planning phase and current workflow	
	5.6.2 Deployment phase	
	5.6.3 Assessment phase.	
5.7	Discussions	
	5.7.1 Conceptual framework	
	5.7.2 Major events and their interpretations	
	5.7.3 Major events and their relations with organization and technology	
5.8	Conclusions	
5.9	References	
Appendix A	A Northeast Community Health Center (NECHC)	92
	B Health Administration Software Solutions(HASS)	
	C HASS results from Capital Health Database	
Appendix l		
Appendix I		
Appendix I	Ethics Review Request	

List of Tables

3.1	Timelines of the implementation study phases	
3.2	Summary of the tasks during implementation study phases	
3.3	Patient demographic and ISC data elements	
3.4	Summary of data sources	
3.5	Data completeness and correctness	
4.1	Summary of ISC training	
4.2	Summary of the three data collection groups	
4.3	Summary of the major events and interpretations	
4.4	Summary of major changes and their relationships with organization and	
	technology	
5.1	Timelines of the implementation study phases	
5.2	Summary of the tasks during implementation study phases	
5.3	Patient demographic and ISC data elements	
5.4	Summary of data sources	
5.5	Data completeness and correctness	
5.6	Summary of ISC training	
5.7	Summary of the three data collection groups	
5.8	Summary of the major events and interpretations	
5.9	Summary of major changes and their relationships with organization and	
	technology	
B .1	Main external cause and ICD mappings	
C.1	Patient case distribution during nursing week	
C.2	Human intent percentage during nursing week	
C.3	Type of activity percentage during nursing week	
C.4	External cause percentage during nursing week	
C.5	Injury factor percentage during nursing week	
C.6	Injury mechanism percentage during nursing week	
C.7	Type of Place percentage during nursing week	
C.8	Parts of Place percentage during nursing week	

C.9	Parts of Place percentage during clerks week	101
C.10	Type of activity percentage during clerks week	
C.11	External cause percentage during clerks week	
C.12	Injury factor percentage during clerks week	
C.13	Injury mechanism percentage during clerks week	
C.14		
C.15	Parts of Place percentage during clerks week	
F.1	Data completeness and correctness	

List of Figures

2.1	Improvisational Model for Technological Innovation	
3.1	ISC window	
4.1	Current work flow diagram	
5.1	Improvisational Model for Technological Innovation	
5.2	ISC window	
5.3	Current work flow diagram	
B .1	ISC window	
B.2	Brand name/product window	
B.3	Safety equipment window	
B.4	Clinical window	
B.5	Nature of main injury window	
D.1	dtSearch search window	
D.2	Document system and Index system	

•

Abbreviation

ACICR	Alberta Center for Injury Control and Research
ANISU	Australian National Injury Surveillance Unit
СНА	Capital Health Authority
CPR	Computer-based Patient Records
ED	Emergency Department
ER	Emergency Room
HASS	Health Administration Solution System
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
IS	Information System
ISC	Injury Surveillance System Component
NDS	National Data Standard
NE	North East
NECHC	Northeast Community Health Center
PHC	Primary Health Care
PRF	Patient Registration Form
RAH	Royal Alexandria Hospital
UAH	University of Alberta Hospital

Chapter One Introduction

1.1 Injuries study and the need for data

Injuries are the leading cause of death and disability among children and young adults¹. Up to the age of 44, injury-related deaths continue to exceed deaths from any other cause. Fortunately, injuries can be prevented. Reliable injury surveillance data on injury frequency, cause, and outcome is a prerequisite to the formulation and implementation of control and preventive policies². Surveillance is defined as the systematic collection, analysis, interpretation, dissemination, and application of health data to a public health problem.³ An injury surveillance system can assist injury professionals to:

- Detect trends and patterns in injury
- Identify risk factors
- Develop control measures and evaluate their impact
- Facilitate policy makers to set priorities, allocate resources, and deal with pressing injury issues with policy makers

1.2 Existing injury data collection practices

Injury data is currently obtained from various sources, including hospital records, trauma services and mortality statistics.⁴ However, up to 90% of all injuries end up in the emergency department (ED).⁵ These medically-attended injury data are not part of any comprehensive data collection practices.

1.3 Scope of Thesis

This project examines the process of implementing the Injury Surveillance System Component (ISC) at a local community health center ED. First, existing injury surveillance initiatives are identified. Second, major streams of technological innovation are described. A model is used to provide a conceptual framework for information system implementation of ED ISC. Third, the research design encompassing location, system information, subjects, data sources, and method is detailed. Finally, results are discussed and recommendations presented.

1.4 Organization of Thesis

This thesis is arranged in five chapters and six appendixes. The second chapter presents a literature review of the following:

- Current emergency room injury surveillance systems
- Major streams of technological innovation
- The improvisational model
- Improvisational model and the ISC implementation

The dynamics within the Capital Health Authority (CHA) are also examined. Specifically, the impact of different perspectives on information needs during the initial phase of the ISC is detailed. Chapter three describes the study design and method. Chapter four includes the study results, discussion of the project's findings, and recommendations. Chapter five summarizes the project and is reserved for publication. Appendix A introduces the Northeast Community Health Center (NECHC) where the ISC was implemented. Appendix B describes HASS (Hospital Administration Software Solutions) and injury data elements. Appendix C describes data collection results from the CHA database. Appendix D presents some software mentioned in the discussions. Appendix E covers patient and NECHC staff interview scripts. Appendix F reviews ethics on patient information requests.

1.5 References

- 1. Baker SP, O'Neill, Ginsburg MJ. The Injury Fact Book. Oxford University Press. Oxford, 1992
- 2. Garrison HG, Runyan CW, Tintinalli JE, et al. Emergency Department Surveillance: An Examination of Issues and a Proposal for a National Strategy. Ann Emerg Med 1994;24:849-855
- 3. Lamgmuir AD. The Surveillance of Communicable Diseases of National Importance. NEJM 1963; 268:192
- 4. Guyer B, Gallagher SS, Azzara CV, et al. Injury Surveillance-a State Perspective. Public Health Report. 1985;100(6): 588-91
- 5. Ribbeck BM, Rubge JW, Thomason MH, Baker JW. Injury Surveillance: a Method for Recording E Codes for Emergency Department Patients. Ann Emerg Med 1992;21(1):37-40

Chapter Two Literature Review

Injury surveillance systems are often based on data that have been collected for other purposes. For example, severe injury-related data may be available from trauma services or hospital records. Police reports may provide information on injuries resulting from vehicle crashes. Hospital emergency department (ED) data represent an important but underused source of information for injury-surveillance practice. A review of current injury data collection practices helps demonstrate the essential role of an emergency department (ED) injury surveillance system. The review also brings forth people and organizational issues that are critical to both the implementations of health information systems and dealing with changed organizations that these systems often. The final section of the chapter explores a conceptual framework and the improvisational model that associates system implementation and change management..

2.1 Emergency Room electronic surveillance systems

2.1.1 Sources of injury surveillance data

a. Hospital discharge records

Hospital discharge records have often been used as a source of injury surveillance data. Discharge summaries which are abstracted and transcribed to computer files are often used as a source of injury surveillance data. Unfortunately, there are limitations to these data. For example, only a certain percentage of injured persons who receive medical treatment are admitted to a hospital resulting in hospital records that under-represent injury incidence. In addition, these data are generally not available in a timely manner as data abstraction and transcription is a time consuming process.Furthermore, major injury data elements such as the external cause (E codes) are not consistently captured 1.2.3.

b. Trauma registry

Trauma registry is a comprehensive source of surveillance data for severe injuries. Trauma data are used primarily for quality assurance of care and assessment of treatment effectiveness. Drawbacks for these data are related to representativeness, flexibility, and timeliness ^{4,5,6}.

c. Mortality data

Injury deaths are usually coded by using International Classification of Disease Codes (ICD), according to the nature of injury (N codes) and the external cause (E codes). The medical examiner and coroner's office may provide additional injury information at the time of autopsy. However, fatal databases do not provide morbidity information therefore the data is incomplete and non-representative. It also limits full assessment of preventative and control intervention, especially at a community level ^{7.8.9}.

- d. Canadian Hospitals Injury Reporting and Prevention Program (CHIRPP) is an emergency room-based injury surveillance system administered by the Bureau of Chronic Disease Epidemiology within the federal government. All 10 children's hospitals across Canada participated in this program when it was initially instituted in 1990. Parents and ER physicians fill out a standardized form that gathers demographic, injury, and clinical data. Completed forms are then coded and transcribed to a national database in Ottawa. The primary goal of CHIRPP is to alleviate the incidence and severity of children injury and severity in Canada. Studies have shown CHIRPP data are of relatively high quality and may be used with caution for research and public health policy. However, CHIRPP data underestimates admission rates and demonstrates some systematic errors in capture. Furthermore, CHIRPP contributes to a national database therefore it is not specific in identifying local or community injury problems 10,11,12.
- e. Population-based emergency room injury surveillance system Since most injuries are treated in ED, ED surveillance is essential for determining the impact of injuries. Injury is the most frequent reason for ED visits for all age groups, accounting for over 76,000 visits to CHA ED in 1997-1998. According to Alberta Injury Prevention Center 1994 data, there were 1,358 deaths and 31,471

hospitalizations as the result of injury in the province of Alberta. According to some estimates, for every childhood injury death there are 45 hospitalizations and 1300 ED visits. Public health professionals want to collect and analyze this ED visits population data to develop and evaluate strategies for injury control and prevention 8,13,14 .

2.1.2 Community ED electronic injury data collection

ED or groups of ED that allow the assemblage of population-based surveillance data serve communities or "defined populations". Population-based surveillance is defined as pertaining to a general population within a geopolitical boundary; this population is the denominator and/or sampling frame ¹⁵. Community injury surveillance data depict local trends and patterns of injury, which vary greatly between communities. This in turn facilitates the practice of community-responsive measures ^{16, 17,18}. Information technology has evolved and transformed the healthcare landscape. It revolutionizes the way healthcare organizations approach information applications and management ¹⁹. Computerbased patient record (CPR) systems offer access (availability, timeliness, reliability, and ease of use), quality, security, flexibility, and efficiency.^{20, 21} Public health information standards are changing. The International Classification of Diseases has become shared standard. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention is spearheading the initiative for standardized ED reporting. They are collaborating with the major clinical information standards developer groups such as HL7, in an attempt to unify systems and standards surrounding public health information and surveillance^{22, 23}. Harmonizing data standards such as data definitions, component structures, code values, and data use allows for more effective collaboration among public health agencies and healthcare providers. It also increases acceptability, simplicity, and flexibility to those using the computer-based patient record (CPR) systems^{24, 25}. These potential benefits along with population-based characteristics have positioned the community ED electronic injury data collection at the forefront of injury surveillance data. It

meets public health surveillance system guidelines and explicit criteria such as simplicity, flexibility, acceptability, timeliness, representativeness, sensitivity, and positive predictive value ^{26,27}.

2.2 Major streams on technological innovation

2.2.1 Organizational issues that influence information technology diffusion

Informatic implementations often involve large systems with wide-ranging effects. Staff can easily be overwhelmed by changes especially when they perceive that they will not be involved in the decision-making process. If not carefully planned, technological innovations may foster adversarial relationships between staff and management. In addition, staff my resist the changes and refuse to co-operate. Every implementation is conceived with the intention in response to perceived changes in an organization. Acceptance of an information system such as the ED electronic injury surveillance system by its intended users is a critical final stage in a successful systems implementation. The people and organizational issues area is a blend of many disciplines. These include psychology, sociology, social psychology, social anthropology, organizational behavior and development, management, and cognitive sciences ^{28,29}. There has been much research into organizational issues that often arise during the evaluation of health information systems. The following listing illustrates a few of the issues:

- User involvement and participation: users need to be actively involved in changes. Seeking inputs at the early stages of the overall process is an important consideration.⁵⁴
- The benefits of change: a successful implementation needs to emphasize its benefits. Caregivers need to understand that the information system is supportive of their work pattern and is ultimately beneficial to patient care.⁵⁵

- Strategies for managing complex change: the process of change management involves diverse perspectives such as sets of behavior, the way people in an organization think and act, development of skills and commitment, etc.²⁸
- Organizational structures: study has shown that a successful implementation needs to includes a fit between strategy and the organizational structurewhether it is centralized or decentralized ⁴⁵.
- Organizational cultures: cultures vary from one organization or profession to the next and it can influence the acceptance of an innovation ⁵⁶.

2.2.2 Major theories and research streams

Information technology (IT) implementation is defined as an organizational effort directed toward diffusing appropriate information technology within a user community. Zmud and Apple's stage model founded on Lewin's change model (unfreezing, change, refreezing) incorporates some of the post-adoption behaviors. ³⁰ The model includes:

- Initiation. Pressure to change originates from organizational push or pull. A compatible IT solution is found.
- Adoption. Support for the IT solution is pursued.
- Adaptation. The IT application is developed, introduced, and sustained. Organizational procedures are altered to accommodate the change.
- Acceptance. Staff or employees are encouraged to utilize the application.
- Routinization. The application usage is optimized and becomes part of daily activities.
- Infusion. The IT application is profusely used throughout the organization's different levels.

Zmud and Kwon identify five major contextual factors that affect each stage.³¹ They are the characteristics of the user community, organization, technology, the task to which technology is being applied, and organizational environment.

- a. Factors research has identified issues that have an impact on IT implementation outcomes. Certain individual, organization, and technology factors are important considerations in the effectiveness of IT solutions. Results from factors-based studies have been relatively consistent in highlighting a small set of factors that regularly impact be related to IT implementations.³² They include top management support, a relevant and well-planned design, satisfactory user-designer coordination, and well-corporated users.^{33,34}
- b. Mutual understanding research studies focus on designer quality. Such research stresses issues such as user-designer interaction, purpose, objectives, design, use, impacts and evaluation.³⁵ The studies indicate that user-designer interaction and cognitive functioning are highly desirable. Moreover, a sense of empathy or "mutual understanding" between user and designer can be influential.³⁶
- c. Process research, which focuses on social change activities, views implementation efforts as a sequence of generic stages, each of which are dependent on the success of the previous stage^{37, 38}. These stages are both distinct and associated with information system life cycle. The finding that commitment to change, implementation, extensive project definition and planning encourage implementation success, is significant. It suggests that a unified understanding and commitment to implementation among management, designer, trainer and user helps to nurture and sustain the motivation for appropriate implementation behavior. ³⁹
- d. Political research examines diverse interests by stakeholders. These interests motivate the participation or defiance of individual stakeholders to IT implementation efforts. participation or defiance of IT implementation efforts. Stakeholders who believe the proposed changes will impact their interests act to influence the course of the process.⁴⁰
- Prescriptive research highlights generic implementation risk factors.⁴¹ These risk factorscan involve participant attributes, organization contexts and the project itself. Prescriptive strategies, based on experience and observation, to surmount specific risks are put forth.

2.2.3 Improvisational model and ISC implementation

Orlikowski presents the improvisational model that takes advantage of evolving capabilities, emerging practices, and unanticipated outcomes associated with the use of new technologies. According to Orlikowski, conventional theories on technological change originate in Lewin's three-stage change model of unfreezing, change, and refreezing. This model considers change as an event to be managed. It may be appropriate for organizations that are relatively stable and bounded. However, given today's more turbulent, flexible, and uncertain organizational settings, such a model is becoming less appropriate. Orlikowski's improvisational model defines three categories of changes in the implementation process: anticipated, emergent and opportunity-based. Anticipated changes are planned ahead of time and occur as intended. Emergent changes arise spontaneously and are not originally anticipated. Opportunity-based changes are not anticipated ahead of time but are introduced purposefully and intentionally during the change process. The model is particularly suitable under the following circumstances:

The technology being implemented is open-ended and customizable.

An organization uses information technology to enable changes that are unprecedented, flexible, complex, and uncertain in nature
It further notes that planning should be considered only as a guide. The organization's management creates an environment that facilitates improvisation instead of predefining each step and then controlling events to fit the plan. To effectively execute the model, it is necessary to make ongoing assessment and adjustment of the technology and the organization. ⁴² (Figure 2.1)



Figure 2.1 Improvisational Model for Technological Innovation

2.3 Conditions justifying the model's application

The improvisational model requires a tolerance for flexibility, uncertainty, and complexity. It is appropriate for open-ended and customizable technologies. Certain ED and surveillance computer system characteristics have been identified as befitting the application of such a model:

- ED is an intensive area in the hospital with rapid pace and emphasis on immediate treatment of patients in need of emergency care ⁴³. As NECHC ED staff gained experience and understood the ISC better, they shifted their focus from sole care giving to both care giving and injury data documentation. This impact on workload may prompt structural changes. ^{44,45}
- 2. In setting its vision-"healthier people in healthier communities"- the Edmonton Capital Health Authority (CHA) board had identified three health issues that had considerable influence on the health of people in the region and commanded a significant proportion of resources ⁴⁶. The board had considered these three issues, one of which was injury control and prevention,

as priorities for action. Managerial support from NECHC and the presence of champions had a major role in ensuring and achieving a successful injury surveillance system implementation. Carla Policicchio, ED team leader at the NECHC, has over 19 years of wide ED experience. She held several senior managerial positions with CHA, and had a good understanding of the dynamic setting of the ED. As a result, Ms. Policicchio was instrumental in providing guidance to the proactive management of the clinical information system implementation.

Dr. Louis Francescutti, chair of the advisory body of Alberta Center for Injury Control and Research (ACICR) initiated the process leading to the ISC implementation. He first noticed the ISC application in supporting injury surveillance in ED settings within the CHA. Dr. L. Francescutti is known for his experience in successful strategies involving a combination of engineering, enforcement, economic incentives and education. Dr. G. Cummings, Royal Alexandra Hospital emergency department chief, has been an advocate for a comprehensive injury surveillance system. Dr.F. Lau, Faculty of Business, University of Alberta, has conducted research in information system planning, design, implementation, use and effects of knowledge and learning systems in organizations. Their experience, credibility and commitment to organizational learning and employee empowerment would establish a core competency factor to overcome both expected and unexpected challenges. These characteristics were particularly compatible with the improvisational model.

3. There has been a tremendous dynamism in injury control and prevention in Alberta. It has involved multi-disciplines. ACICR has a provincial mandate to provide coordination and support for organizations and professionals in injury control. A trauma registry enables the monitoring of serious injuries in trauma centers⁶. The CHA Public Health section addresses determinants of health and takes action to improve health at the community level e.g. child injury prevention. ED physicians require injury surveillance data to practice preventive medicine in CHA ED. Injury control in Alberta is a shared responsibility ⁴⁷ and a successful injury surveillance system implementation

needs to include these multi-disciplines and their specific information needs ^{48,49}. It was necessary to develop and present to all parties involved a clear vision of this project; namely, implementation of a community-based pilot project aimed at local specific injury problems.

- 4. There are circumstances which are sufficiently sensitive for ED care providers to document injuries e.g. child abuse, sexual assault ^{50, 51}. It was recognized that data capturing under these ED situations could be a challenge ^{52,53}.
- 5. As it is noted in Appendix B, the computer system to be implemented represented an open-ended and customizable version of information technology.

2.4 References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control: External Cause of Injury Coding in Hospital Discharge Data-U.S., 1992. MMWR 1992;41:249-251
- 2. Injury Prevention: Meeting the challenge. Am J Prev Med 1989;5 (Suppl 1):37
- 3. Smith GS, Langiois JA, Buechner JS. Methodological issues in using hospital discharge data to determine the incidence of hospitalized injuries. Am J Epidemiol 1991;134:1146-58.
- 4. Rodenberg, H. The Florida Trauma System: Assessment of a State Wide Data Base. Injury 1996;27(3):205-208
- 5. Osler TM, Cohen M, et al. Trauma Registry Injury Coding is Superfluous: A Comparison of Outcome Prediction based on Trauma Registry International Classification of Diseases-Ninth Revision (ICD-9) and Hospital Information System ICD-9nCodes. J Trauma 1997;43:253-257
- 6. Mullins R, Mann Clay. Population-Based Research Assessing the Effectiveness of Trauma Systems. J Trauma: Injury, Infection, and Critical Care. 1999; 47(3):S59-S68
- 7. Sosin, D.N., Sacks J.J., Smith S.M. 1989. Head Injury-Associated Deaths in the U.S.from 1979-1986. JAMA 262:2251-2255
- Garrison H G, Runyan C W, Tintinalli J E, Barber C W, Bordley C W, Hargarten S W, Pollock D A, Weiss H B. Emergency Department Surveillance: An Examination of Issues and a Proposal for a National Strategy. Ann Emerg Med November;1994;24:849-856
- 9. Stone D H, Morrison A. Developing Injury Surveillance in Accident and Emergency Departments. Arch Dis Child;1998;78:108-110
- 10. Morrison A, Stone D H, Doraiswamy N, Ramsay L. Injury Surveillance in an Accident and Emergency Department: a Year in the Life of CHIRPP. Arch Dis Child, 1999; 80:533-536
- Macarthur C et al. Reliability and Validity of Proxy Respondent Information about Childhood Injury: An assessment of a Canadian Surveillance System. Am J Epidemiol 1997;145:834-841

- 12. Macarthur C, Barry Pless. Colin. Evaluation of the Quality of an Injury Surveillance System. American J Epidemiology 1999; 149(6): 586-592
- 13. Ing RT Surveillance in Injury Prevention .Public health Rep 1985; 100(6): 164-190
- 14. Thacker S B, Stroup D F. Future Directions for Comprehensive Public Health Surveillance and Health Information Systems in the United States. Am J Epidemiol 1994;140:383-397
- 15. Last JM: A Dictionary of Epidemiology, ed 2 New York, Oxford University Press, 1988, p. 100
- 16. Gallagher S et al., The Incidence of Injuries among 87,000 Massachusetts Children and Adolescents: Results of the 1980-81 Statewide Childhood Injury Prevention Program Surveillance system. American J Public Health 1984;74(12);1340-347
- 17. Graitcer P. The Development of State and Local Injury Surveillance Systems. J Safety Research. 1987;18:191-198
- 18. McClure RJ. The Australian Capital Territory Injury Surveillance and Prevention Project. Acad Emerg Med 1995;2:529-534
- 19. Tang C.P., Hammond W.E. A Progress Report on Computer-Based Patient Records in the US in The Computer-Based Patient Record, an Essential Technology for Health Care revised edition. 1994, pp1-20
- 20. Ball M.J., Collen M.F. Aspects of the Computer-Based Patient Record. Springer-Verlag, 1992
- Tang C.P., LaRosa Michael P., Gorden Susan M. Use of Computer-Based Records, Completeness of Documentation, and Appropriateness of Documented Clinical Decisions. JAMIA, 1999;6:245-251
- 22. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. Data Elements for Emergency Departments Systems (DEEDS) Release 1.0. Atlanta, GA; Center for Disease Control and Preventions, 1997
- 23. http://www.hl7.org
- 24. Koo D., Parrish RG. The Changing Health Care Information Infrastructure in the US: Opportunities for a New Approach to Public Health Surveillance, in Teutsch SM, Churchill RE, Principle and Practice of Public Health Surveillance, 2nd ed, Oxford Univ. Press:NY, 2000.

- 25. Yasnoff W, O'caroll PW, Koo D, et al. Public Health Informatics: Improving and Transforming Public Health in the Information Age. J Public Health Management and Practice, 2000; November: in press.
- 26. Centers for Disease Control: Guidelines for Evaluating Surveillance Systems., 1988. MMWR 1988; 37(S-5); 1-18
- 27. Thacker S B ,Gibson Parrish, Trowbridge Frederick & Surveillance Coordination Group. A Method for Evaluating Systems of Epidemiological Surveillance. World Health Stat. 1988; 41:11-18
- 28. Lorenzi M. Nancy, Riley Robert T, et al. Antecedents of the People and Organizational Aspects of Medical Informatics: Review of the Literature JAMIA, 1997;4:79-93
- 29. Ash Joan. Organizational Factors That Influence Information Technology Diffusion in Academic Health Science Centers. JAMIA;4:102-111
- 30. Cooper Randolph B., Zmud Robert W. Information technology Implementation Research: a Technological Diffusion Approach. Management Science 1990;36(2):123-139
- 31. Kwon Tae H., Zmud Robert W. Unifying the Fragmented Models of Information Systems Implementation. In Boland and Hirschheim (Eds), Critical Issues in Information Systems Research. John Wiley, New York, 1987
- 32. Fuerst W.L., Cheney P.H. Factors Affecting the Perceived Utilization of Computerbased Decision Support Systems in the Oil Industry. Decision Sciences, 1982;(13)4:554-569
- 33. Schultz R.L. The Implementation of Forecasting Models. J Forecasting, 1984;6(3):43-55
- 34. Sanders G.L., Courtney J.F. A Field Study of Organizational Factors Influencing DSS Success. MIS Quarterly, 1985;(9)1:77-93
- 35. Churchman C., Schainblatt A. The Researcher and Manager: a Dialectic of Implementation. Management Science;1965;11:B69-B87.
- 36. Ives B., Olson M.H. User Involvement and MIS Success: a Review of Research. Management Science, 1984;4(1):586-603.
- 37. Kolb D.A., Frohman A.L. An Organizational Development Approach to Consulting. Sloan Management Review;1970 12(1):51-65

- 38. Schein E.H. Management Development as a Process of Influence. Industrial Management Review;1961,2,2
- 39. Ginzberg M.J. Early Diagnosis of MIS Implementation Failure: Promising Results nd Unanswered Questions. Management Science; 1981;27(4):459-478
- 40. Markus M.L. Power Politics and MIS Implementation. Communications of the ACM;1983,26(6):430-444.
- 41. McFarlan F.W. Portfolio Approach to Information Systems. Harvard Business Review, 1981;59(5):142-150.
- Orlikowski WJ, Hofman DJ. An Improvisational Model for Change Management: The Case of Groupware Technologies. Sloan Management Review, 1997; 38(2):11-24
- Baker DW, Stevens CD. Determinants of Emergency Department Use by Ambulatory Patients at an Urban Public Hospital. Annals of Emergency Medicine 1995; 25:311-16
- 44. Rotman et al. A Randomized Controlled Trial of a Computer-based Physician Workstation in an Outpatient Setting: Implementation Barriers to Outcome Evaluation JAMIA;1996;3:340-348
- 45. Southon C G et al. Information Technology in Complex Health Services: Organizational Impediments to Successful Technology Transfer and Diffusion. JAMIA,1997;4(2):112-124
- 46. Capital Health Authority (CHA, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada) : Population Health Planning. Recommendations for Action. October 1999
- 47. Alberta Centre for Injury Control and Research documentation
- 48. Lorenzi N M. Organizational Aspects of Health Informatics: Managing Technological Change, Springer Verlag, New York, 1995
- 49. Kaplan B . Addressing Organizational Issues into the Evaluation of Medical Systems. JAMIA, 1997;4(2):94-101
- 50. Boyce MC, Melhorn KJ, Vargo G. Pediatric Trauma Documentation- Adequacy for Assessment of Child Abuse. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1996;150:730-732
- 51. Limbos MP, Berkowitz CD. Documentation of Child Physical Abuse: How Far Have we Come? Pediatrics 1998;102:53-58

- 52. Baker SP, O'Neill B, Ginsburg MJ, Guohua Li. The Injury Fact Book (2nd edition) New York: Oxford University Press, 1992
- 53. Deane M. Child Accident Data: Accessible and Available? J Pub Health Med 1993; 15:226-228
- 54. Davenport TH. Saving IT's Soul, Human-Centered Information Management. Harvard Business Review. 1994; 72:119-33
- 55. Rogers E.M.. Diffusion of Innovations. 3 rd ed. New York, N.Y.: Free Press, 1983.
- 56. Kaplan B. Culture Counts: How Institutional Values Affect Computer Use. MD Computing 2000; 17(1): 23-26

Chapter 3 Research Study

3.1 Project Objective and Research Question

The project objective is to implement and assess an ED injury surveillance system at a local community health center. The research question is to determine if the theory of improvisation can be used to explain the implementation in terms of workflow and capture of surveillance data.

Hospital emergency department data represent an important but underused source of information for the injury-surveillance effort. As discussed in chapter 2, information technology and evolving data standards have promoted the use of an ED injury surveillance system to address the information needs of successful injury control and prevention strategies, particularly at a local level. According to Berger and Mohan¹ and Strome^{2,3}, injury data that are reliable, timely and readily accessible are necessary for policy decision-making in planning injury control and prevention 4. It is well known that the success of an innovation, such as a new information system depends on the acceptance of its potential users.⁵ Caregivers adopt and use the system in terms of their beliefs, values, practices, and norms. The new system challenges the way people in an organization think and act; it disturbs traditional patterns of conduct and forces people to modify established practice routines.⁷ Information systems implementation has received much attention in the last two decades. Conventional theories on technological change as suggested in Lewin's change model were discussed in chapter 2. This model may be appropriate for organizations that are relatively stable and bounded. However, given today's more turbulent, flexible, and uncertain organizational settings, such a model is becoming less appropriate.⁶ The improvisational model differentiates itself from other models of change by two major assumptions. First, it considers change as an ongoing process rather than an event with an end point. Second, the incorporated changes cannot be anticipated ahead of time.^{8,14} This alternative model for managing technological change in an ED setting may allow an organization to leverage the evolving capabilities, emerging practices, and unanticipated outcomes associated with the use of new technology. Organizational contexts have

considerable influence on the outcome of innovation process. This is particularly true for health service organizations such as the NECHC where there is diversity of practice ^{19, 20}. NECHC is built on a primary health care (PHC) model that promotes integration of services focusing on the needs of clients. PHC is focused on health in a broad sense and includes collaboration with different health sectors. Its mission emphasizes the promotion of health and well-being, prevention and response to injury, illness, and discomfort (Appendix A). A study, assessing the health needs of the Northeast community indicated high level of injuries on a per capita basis in this part of the city ¹². The NECHC needs to understand injury patterns and disseminate injury data to enhance decision-making in injury control and prevention. As a result, the NECHC is an appropriate choice of institution to pilot the implementation of an electronic injury surveillance system.

3.2 Research Design

3.2.1 Study approach

The objective of this study is to implement an electronic injury surveillance system with the intent to explore ways by which surveillance data can be captured as part of the routine workflow. The most effective method of capturing quality data by nurses, physicians, and registration clerks will be examined. People and organizational issues are crucial aspects as organizations attempt to introduce innovation and subsequent changes. By applying the improvisational model for change management in an ED setting, the study will determine whether the model adequately explains the implementation both in terms of work flow and injury surveillance data capture. The improvisational model requires a process to recognize the different types of change or occurrence of major events and an effective response ⁸. The research approach was qualitative in nature, using data collected primarily through semi-structured interviews supplemented by descriptive statistics on patient cases.
3.2.2 Research location

North East (NE) Edmonton has a population of 66,941 comprised of 33,918 females and 33,023 males. There are 24,170 females and 24,154 males under 45 years old, for a total of 48,324 (72.2%)⁹. There are 22,441 private households with an average income of \$44,196 and a median income of \$39,935 compared to an average of \$51,118 and a median of \$42,701 for the province of Alberta¹⁰. The NECHC provides emergency services in addition to Laboratory, Family Health, Mental Health and other services. Emergency service is available on a 24-hour, 7 days per week basis (Appendix A). Emergency Medical Services (EMS) arranges patient transfers to other facilities for hospital admission since NECHC does not have in-patients beds¹¹.

A study, assessing the health needs of the NE community, indicated a relatively high level of injuries ¹². During the first three months of operation, the center had over 6,500 ER visits ¹³.

3.2.3 Study phases

The study was conducted over a period of eleven months and consisted of three phases: planning, deployment, and assessment (Tables 3.1, 3.2)

a. Planning phase

The formation of the core project group, development of a comprehensive injury data set, data management with data dissemination consideration, and the workflow study began in mid-November 1999.

- Project group formation and ISC implementation work-plan. The core members were Dr. L.H. Francescutti (Principal Investigator), CHA Information System ED project team, Ms. Carla Policcichio (NECHC ED team leader), and graduate student Hue Quan. The group convened and addressed basic questions such as the data collection objectives, who would capture data, and what would be done with the data.
- Data set development. The project group adopted the Australian National Injury Surveillance Unit (ANISU) National Data Standards (NDS) for

public health injury surveillance as a foundation for the ISC data set (Appendix B). Group members acknowledged that the data set was needed to not only give a comprehensive description of the scope of the injury problem but also to ensure data collection compliance. Incompliance is often an issue due to the extra resources required in terms of staff and time for in-depth data gathering.

- Data management and dissemination. Even though the focus of the study was workflow and data capture, the group also discussed the issues of data storage, quality, and dissemination.
- Workflow study. Observations, interviews, and meetings with NECHC staff were held to explore how ED information flowed, how the data collection system was used, and its perceived consequences for performance, staff, and work relationships.

b. Deployment phase

The deployment phase consisted of ISC installation, a data collection trial to determine the most effective way for NECHC staff to capture quality data, and a workflow study.

- ISC installation. The ED project team activated the ISC, checked its functionality, and made sure the injury surveillance application was integrated with HASS (Hospital Administration Software Solutions).
- Data collection trial. The 3 groups included in the data collection trial were physicians, nurses, and registration clerks. Each group collected a week of injury-related data (estimated to be about 100 patients). The trial was done in three consecutive weeks for three groups. The injured population was defined as patients for whom the triage nurse had indicated "Y" in the mandatory field "Injury (Y/N)" of the ISC Triage Form . If staff were able to capture ISC data after patients had signed consent, ISC . data entry fields were filled in. These included activity when injured, type of place, injury mechanism, injury factor, human intent and external cause of injury (Table 3.3). Data were validated for correctness by phoning patients the next day and repeating the ISC data entry questions. The

findings helped to create a template for uniform data collection in ED within the CHA region.

• Workflow study. Observation, interviews, and meetings were organized to assess the impact of the ISC introduction on work pattern, staff interaction with the system, and the consequences of the deployment process.

c. Assessment phase

The assessment phase involved qualitative analysis and descriptive statistics based on data collected during the planning and deployment phases.

Phases	Nov 99	Dec 99	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	June	July	Aug	Sep
			00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00
Planning	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	<u> </u>	
Deployment		<u>+</u>		<u> </u>		 				x	
Assessment		+		<u> </u>	+		+			x	x

Table 3.1 Timelines of the implementation study phases

Table 3.2 Summary of the tasks during implementation study phases

Phases	Tasks
Planning	 Project group formation with ISC implementation work-plan Data set development Data management consideration that included data dissemination Work flow study
Deployment	 ISC installation Data collection trial with staff training Work flow study
Assessment	Data analysis

3.2.4 Technology

a. Hospital Administration Software Solutions (HASS)

The CHA implemented a new emergency department computer system at NECHC in September 1999. The system, called Hospital Administration Software

Solutions (HASS), was developed in Australia (Appendix B). HASS also had an injury surveillance component (ISC) which was deployed during the study. HASS has the following features:

- Full security system enabling multi-level user access control for windows, menus and reports
- Full multi-user capabilities including record locking and window refreshing
- Site nominated mandatory coded data entry fields
- Minimal keyboard usage as clinical information can be entered using touch screen
- Ability to customize report destination and printer for each report printed.
- b. Injury surveillance system component (ISC) (Figure 3.1)²¹

The ISC was a component residing within HASS. When the ISC window opened during triage or following the update of a patient record, the patient's last/first name, date of birth, age, sex, date of injury, and presenting problem would be transferred from the triage window. If staff were busy and unable to complete the data immediately, data could be entered at a more convenient time. The ISC user could re-enter the injury surveillance window from other screens by performing a patient search or double clicking on the record from a patient list.

7 Injury	Surveillar	nce GEN	ERAL HE	ISPITAL							
<< T	hursday	3 SEP 11	56 02	:18 >>	Ð	Vieit Ho:	100136	De	ily Patient Ho	x << 5	
Lin	ked	Admit /	Disch.	- Ale	rts 🖛					CASO	ard 6
MRN: 100003 Lest Neme: VICTOR D.O.B: 12 MAY 1978 Age: 20 yrs 5 mins							- Fin	st Name: Sex:	MARGARET		
Date o	of Injury: 3	SEP 1998	Time of	injury: 07:	15	injury (Cause:	09	FALL		
Text Description of Injury Event Human Intent: 01 HEADACHE ONSET OF CHEST PAIN. SUDDEN ONSET							01	ACCEDENT;	NURY NOT	NTENDE	
OF ABD	THE ONSET	F OF CHEST	' PAIN, SUC ING TO BA	DEN ONSE	▼	Type c	of Place:	09	NOUSTRIAL	OR CONST	RUCTION
SWIFT F		KERS SOLE				Туре с	of Place:	09.2	DEMOLITION	SITE	
SHOEU	VERALLS					Part o	of Place:	43	AREA BENE	ATH A BLE	DING OR
						A	ctivity.	01	SPORTS AC	TIVITY	
1					コ	Injury Factor: 0601 BALL					
						injury Mec	henism	72	SUN LIGHT		
Teter	ius Status	v	Medicatio	n Status	R A	ledical Recor	d Reg'd	Me	cical Record I	Rec'd	
Triage	Clerical	Clinical	Admit		Trans.	Expects	Treck	ing	Vital	Regist.	Clear
Text Find	Next	Previous		Car Eca	Deviate	Print	Lest Pe	tient	Alerts		Ciose

Figure 3.1 ISC window

3.2.5 Subjects

The project involved RAH trauma service, Kim Borden (ACICR staff), Carla Policcichio^{*} (NECHC ED team leader), Dr. L.H.Francescutti ^{*} (Principal Investigator), Public Health research coordinator, CHA Information System ED project team, HASS developer, Dr. F. Lau ^{*} (Faculty of Business, thesis committee), Dr. G. Cummings ^{*} (RAH senior ED physician), NECHC physicians, nurses, registration clerks, patients, and graduate student Hue Quan. During the data collection trial, NECHC staff (physicians, nurses and registration clerks) who were scheduled to be on duty received 45 to 60 minutes of ISC computer training. Training sessions covered ISC data entry, editing, saving and

[•] project champions

navigation between forms. Training took place either before or after shift rotations. The ISC implementation, its interaction with clinical, nursing and support staff and improvisational changes were the focus of the study. Injured patients were enrolled in the study after they signed the consent form.

3.2.6 Method

a. Data sources (Table 3.4)

Data sources for this study were staff, patients, and the ISC data repository. 1. Staff

Data collection was primarily from observations, meeting notes, interviews, training sessions, and documents. Due to confidentiality concerns raised by staff graduate student Hue Quan used field notes instead of tape recording interviews.

- Throughout the planning phase and the early part of deployment phase, meetings and interviews consisted of the HASS developer, ED project team members, public health staff and champions. The interviews were semi-structured and included specific issues related to (Appendix E):
 - ISC implementation work-plan
 - Organizational context
 - > User acceptance
 - Staff's strength and belief
 - > Expectations on technological capabilities
- During the deployment phase, interviews were conducted with nurses, physicians, and registration clerks who had participated in the three-week data collection trial. Interviews were held at the time of ISC user training sessions. The interviews were semi-structured and included specific issues related to (Appendix E):
 - Overall impression of training sessions
 - Technological assessment of the ISC components

- > Current NECHC data collection practice and staff preference
- > Workflow and the impact of ISC introduction
- Relevance between injury surveillance and direct patient care in ED setting
- > NECHC staff experience with HASS

A senior NECHC staff member who was actively involved in the project was asked to review and revise the interview questions to ensure they fit the NECHC ED setting.

- Direct observations of staff using the system before and during ISC deployment were done.
- A comment book collected staff feedback during the data collection trial.
- Email correspondence, references documenting how NECHC came into being, HASS user training manuals, ACICR's Alberta Injury Data Report (Table 3.4)

2. Patients

To validate ISC data collected during the trial, NECHC staff obtained consent from patients for follow-up telephone interviews. Graduate student Hue Quan telephoned patients the day after their ED visit. If patients were not home or there was no answer, a second attempt was made an hour later. The case was marked "patient not available" after 3 redial attempts. The interview was based on a script that included the following (Appendix E):

- Patient's identity, their awareness of the study, and whether they had signed the consent form
- External injury cause: Event, circumstance or condition associated with the occurrence of injury, poisoning or violence
- Bodily location of main injury: the anatomical location of the main injury
- Date and time of injury
- Activity related to injury: the specific type of activity being undertaken by the person when injured
- Type of place where injury event occurred: the nature of the location of the person when injured.

- Specific products or substances that were involved
- Safety precautions or devices that were in use

The interview was used to quantify the level of agreement between the ISC recorded information and that obtained from the patient. The study involved human participants so Health Research Ethics Board (HREB) ¹⁵ approval was required [•]. The HREB protocol stated non-invasive interventions and measures including interviews, surveys and questionnaires need to be reviewed by the board (Appendix F). During training sessions, the necessity of explicit effort in seeking a patient's consent to participate in the study and permission to call them at home the following day was emphasized. NECHC management also reinforced the practice of seeking a patient's consent and permission through both written communication in the forms of ED logs, reminders and verbal communication during shift reports.

3. Patient case data (HASS repository)

Patient demographic and ISC electronic data were retrieved from the centrally stored Oracle database. A NECHC research staff and an ED system analyst assisted in downloading data from Oracle to a Microsoft Access database, using Open Data Base Connectivity setup (ODBC). First, the NECHC patient data were separated from the data pool by using a NECHC medical record number that had a unique identifier starting with "0000". Next, patient cases were limited by the data collection trial dates. Lastly, injured patients identified by Injury (Y/N) = "Yes" data field were retrieved. The ISC data entries were summarized in Table 3.3:

Table 3.3	Patient d	lemographic	and ISC	data elements
-----------	-----------	-------------	---------	---------------

Data Elements	Description	Data Types
Last Name	Patient last name	Text of size 30
Middle Name	Patient middle name	Text of size 30
Medical Record Number	NECHC Patient medical record number started with "0000"	Text of size 12
Gender	Patient gender	Male or Female

The HREB is a joint committee of the University of Alberta Health Sciences Faculties, the CHA, and the Caritas Health Group.

Date of Birth	Patient date of birth	Date (DD-MMM-YYYY)
Date of injury	Date injury event occurred	Date (DD-MMM-YYYY)
Time of injury	Time injury event occurred	Time (HH:MM)
Brief description	Free-text entry of what went wrong. It may provide additional information	Memo
Brand name/product fault	Product related to injury event e.g. child walker	Memo
Safety equipment or device	Equipment or device used during the injury event e.g. seat belt	Memo
External injury cause	Event, circumstance or condition associated with the occurrence of injury, poisoning or violence	Text of size 30
Human intent	The role of human intent in the occurrence of injury as assessed by caregivers	Text of size 30
Type of place	The type of place at which the person was situated when injured.	Text of size 30
Activity	The specific type of activity being undertaken by the person when injured	Text of size 30
Injury factor	Types of objects and substances involved in the occurrence of the injury	Text of size 30
Injury mechanism	The way in which the injury was sustained	Text of size 30
Nature of main injury	The nature of the injury chiefly responsible	Text of size 30
Bodily location	The anatomical location of the injury chiefly responsible.	Text of size 30

Table 3.4. Summary	of data sources
--------------------	-----------------

Data Source	Volume	Туре
Email	68	qualitative
NECHC references documenting how NECHC was established	5	qualitative
HASS user training manuals	2	qualitative
ACICR's Alberta Injury Data Report	1	quantitative
Meeting notes, notes as a result of direct observations, interview, field notes, and comment book	32 pages	qualitative

- b. Analysis
 - 1. Content analysis.

Email, field notes and documents were analyzed for content with NUDIST (Non-numerical Unstructured Data Indexing Searching and Theorizing) software. NUDIST is a computer package designed to aid users handling Non-numerical and Unstructured Data. NUDIST -supports qualitative analyses, enabling the processing of coded data through an index system, searching text or patterns of coding and theorizing about the data (Appendix D). Data were organized according to the following steps:

Making a document system. Field notes were imported into NUDIST.
 While browsing the document, text units were inserted as an annotation for ideas. Ideas included descriptions of the goals of each phase, primary activities, major events or issues, or what participants liked or disliked. For example, physicians commented on ISC data entry:

" I do not think it will work for physicians. We have HASS in place for several months. It takes 10 seconds to sign on and only 1/3 of the physicians do it. To do consult entry, it takes about 30 second and none of the physicians use the function. We have skill but it is rather for something else like patient care, not clerical work."

" I make rounds and see the patients, five or more consecutively. By the time I could make it to the computer, I might not be able to remember what injury questions or whom I have asked. I could write it down during visits but time is a factor. I just do not have time to write notes and re-write it on the computer. I have heard about using hand held devices but still one has to click or key it in while contacting patients."

"My working schedule here at the NECHC is almost once in every three or four weeks. I might be able to learn how to use the computer but three or four weeks after I rotate back to here, I might not be able to remember how to use the computer."

The annotations related to the above comments would be "physicians perceived that they had other priority and ISC data entry was not on their list"; "physicians believed there seemed to be a lack of fit between physician work pattern and data entry". Other non-physician professionals commented:

> " Physician prefers to write notes in physician section, nurses also fill up the blank area designated for nurse. There are certain duplication in what caregivers are writing."

In this example, the annotation would be "physicians did devote themselves to data entry but in paper format".

- Using nodes. NUDIST provides nodes for Document Annotations that allow annotations such as those from the above example to be coded. A text unit of any length could be inserted and coded at Document Annotations, as ideas occurred. For example, after reviewing the above annotations, the commentary would be "physicians were familiar with and ingrained in manual data entry. Any change in the documentation system would require a concurrent change in human knowledge, skills, and behavior". Thus, an emergent event during ISC deployment phase would be " from physicians' perspective, there was a sense of reluctance to do ISC data entry".
- 2. ISC data quality assessment

The study used the following criteria for data quality assessment: data completeness, data correctness, additional information, missing data, and timeliness.

Data completeness: ISC injury (yes/no) field in the Triage Form was a mandatory data entry field. Hence it could be used as a standard reference for determining the number of injury-related ED visits i.e. true injury. Completeness was defined as the proportion of all injury events of interest that were captured by ISC and was calculated as a/(a + c). (Table 3.5)

	True injury	False injury	Total
Injury events captured by ISC	a	b	a+b
Injury events missed by ISC	c	d	c + d
Total	a+c	b + d	a+ b + c + d

Table 3.5 Data completeness and correctness

- Data Correctness: Correctness was defined as the proportion of observations that truly had the injury events of interest and was calculated as a/(a + b)^{16,17,18}. The injury-surveillance population of interest was (a + c) which was presumably eligible for capture by ISC. The total ED patient visits that included injury-related and non-injury related sets of patients was (a + b+ c + d). Patients would be phoned the next day to obtain relevant injury data. Measuring the agreement between respondent information and that provided by the ISC would determine data correctness (Table 3.5).
- Additional information: The ISC injury brief description window was a free text entry field. It gave staff the opportunity to supplement the ISC coded data. It would appear logical to search this data item for confirmation and expansion of coded data items.
- Missing data: Charting practice that left data entry fields blank introduced ambiguity because it could be interpreted either as a non-responsive patient or ED staff forgetting to collect information. Missing data was calculated as a proportion of total injury data items (c/a + c).
- Timeliness: There were circumstances in which a patient's condition was considered urgent. ED staff was encouraged to do real-time data entry, but they also had the option to enter a comment indicating that data collection would be deferred in an emergency situation.
- 3. Patient case statistics

Total injury cases were provided during each of the three weeks of the data collection trial (Appendix C) along with percentage distributions of each of the following injury surveillance data items:

- External cause
- Human intent
- Type of place
- Type of activity
- Injury factors
- Injury mechanisms

3.3 References

- 1. Berger LR, Mohan D. Injury Control_ A Global View. New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1996
- 2. Strome TL. Et al. Design and Development of a Computerized Emergency Medical Services-Based Injury Surveillance System. University of Alberta, Edmonton. 1998
- 3. Strome TL. Et al. Public Health Surveillance and Injury Control. University of Alberta, Edmonton.1998
- 4. Vimpani G. Injury Surveillance: a Key to Effective Control of Childhood Injuries. Aust Paediatr J 1989;25:10-13.
- 5. Kaplan B. Culture Counts: How Institutional values Affect Computer Use. MD Computing 2000, 17(1):23-26
- 6. Argyris C, Schon D.A. Organizational Learning. Massachusetts: Addison Wesley, 1978.
- Massaro T.A. Introducing Physician Order Entry at a Major Academic Medical Center: 1. Impact on Organizational Culture and Behavior. Academic Medicine 68(1):20-25,1993
- Orlikowski WJ, Hofman DJ. An Improvisational Model for Change Management: The Case of Groupware Technologies. Sloan Management Review, 1997; 38(2):11-24
- 9. CHA Community Care March 31,1999 data
- 10. 1996 Federal Census data
- 11. CHA:NorthEast Community Health Centre Quick Facts Sep 1999
- 12. The Summary Report of the Public Consultation for the NorthEast Health Centre: What the People of the NorthEast told Capital Health. Feb 1997
- 13. Capital Health Authority (CHA):NorthEast Community Health Centre HASS data
- 14. Orlikowski WJ Improvising Organizational Transformation over Time: A Siuated Change Perspective. Information Systems Research, volume 7, March 1996. pp 63-92
- 15. http://www.hreb.ualberta.ca/research.html

- 16. Macarthur C et al. Reliability and Validity of Proxy Respondent Information about Childhood Injury: An assessment of a Canadian Surveillance System. Am J Epidemiol 1997;145:834-841
- Hogan W et al. Accuracy of data in Computer-based Patient Records. JAMIA 1997; 4(5): 342-355
- 18. Hogan WR, Wagner MM. The Accuracy of Medication Data in an Outpatient Electronic Medical Record.. JAMIA 1996 3(3):234-244
- 19. Southon C G et al. Information Technology in Complex Health Services: Organizational Impediments to Successful Technology Transfer and Diffusion. JAMIA,1997;4(2):112-124
- 20. The Summary Report of the Public Consultation for the NECHC, February 1997.
- 21. HASS training manual

Chapter 4 Findings

4.1 Planning phase

4.1.1 Current workflow at the NECHC

A patient presenting to the NECHC ED was triaged by a nurse and the chief complaint was recorded directly into the HASS system. The chief complaint is a mandatory field. Unless the patient needed immediate care, he or she proceeded to the registration clerk where additional information such as demographics, worker's compensation (if injury was occupation-related), and senior pharmaceutical profile (for patients over 65) was collected and keyed into a separate system called Enovation. The HASS and Enovation systems did not communicate to each other. A clerk had to transfer HASS data to Enovation in a timely manner so as not tie up the flow of patient records. The registration desk then printed out a patient registration form (PRF). When the patient was inside a treatment room, the physician or nurse charted their physical examination and detailed assessment results either into HASS or PRF. The HASS system was complemented with hand-written notes, progress notes, discharge planning, and forms that resided in the patient binder. Once the patient was discharged or transferred to a tertiary hospital the encounter was considered closed. Diagnosis and intervention, if any, data were abstracted into the Ambulatory Care Classification System (ACCS) 's 3M database. The data collected for ACCS is used to classify ambulatory service recipients into clinical groups with similar resource needs and clinical profiles ¹ (Figure 4.1).

4.1.2 NECHC staff perception

NECHC staff mentioned during meetings and discussions that they were mostly familiar with HASS. At the inception of the system, the staff used almost all of the application's functionality: chief complaints, clinical parameter entries like vital signs, primary and/or secondary diagnosis. A NECHC research staff completed a chart review along with a HASS data summary for the first three months of year 2000 and found that physicians were not using HASS consistently. For example, about 30% primary diagnoses were entered by physicians. Despite extensive training and system revisions, NECHC staff explained that timeconstraint was the major issue. There was no decision to mandate additional use of the system other than to ensure entry of the chief complaint.

4.2. Deployment phase

4.2.1 Test trial

Before deployment, a test trial with ten typical injury scenarios using ISC was observed. Two staff members played the roles of caregiver and patient. This simulation was warranted as a quality check of the system.

4.2.2 Training

During the data collection trial, there were 8 training sessions with interviews for nurses: 4 one-to-one sessions, 2 sessions with groups of 2 and 2 sessions with groups of 3 nurses. There were five registration clerk training sessions with interviews: 3 one-to-one sessions, 1 session with groups of 2 and 1 session with groups of 3 clerks. Physician training sessions with interviews were comprised of 4 one-to-one sessions. Training sessions ranged from 45 to 60 minutes except for physician sessions, which lasted only 15 minutes (Table 4.1). The in-service covered ISC data entry, editing, saving and navigation between forms. Staff training and interviews were planned and scheduled in advance. Initial planning was to have both pre and post deployment staff interviews. As a result of discussions with the NECHC team leader, interviews were held once during training due to staff coverage and patient load issues during the deployment phase. In addition, pre-scheduled training sessions were often modified to accommodate schedule changes. For example, a cardiac patient's

37

hemodynamic symptoms became exacerbated and extra personnel were required. Scheduled sessions were usually re-arranged and, sometimes carried out inside treatment rooms or at the front desk so nurses could participate and simultaneously monitor patients.



Figure 4.1 Current work flow diagram

Staff	Session with 1 traince	Session with 2 trainces	Session with 3 trainces	Total staff trained	Training duration
Nurse	4	2	2	14	
Registration clerk	3	1	1	8	45 to 60 minutes per session except 1 for 15
Physician	4	0	0	4	minutes
Total	11	3	3	26	

Table 4.1 Summary of ISC training

4.2.3 Workflow

During the ISC deployment phase, there were three groups of staff involved in the data collection trial: physicians, nurses, and registration clerks. Each group collected a week's injury-related data (estimated to be about 100 patients). The trial was done in three consecutive weeks for the three groups. NECHC staff explained the study to patients, sought their consent, obtained permission for phone interviews, and entered injury-related data directly into HASS. This injury surveillance project and its accompanied data collection were additional to staff 's concurrent workflow and documentation routine. Most were already familiar with HASS's existing functionality and evaluated the relatively short ISC training session as satisfactory. Peer learning was considered a convenient resource, on par with support from ED project team and graduate student Hue Quan. For example, staff found the summarized version of the study in bullets format (prepared by Hue Quan) helpful while recruiting patients to participate

- a. Nurse group
 - Triaged injured patient via "injury (Y/N)" mandatory field of the ISC Triage Form. This data item would be used as standard reference for data completeness.
 - Asked for patient consent as study participants.
 - Performed eleven ISC data entries
- b. Registration clerk group

- Nurse triaged injured patient via "injury (Y/N)" mandatory field of the ISC Triage Form. This data item would be used as standard reference for data completeness.
- Asked for patient consent as study participants
- Performed eleven ISC data entries
- c. Physician group
 - Nurse triaged injured patient via "injury (Y/N)" mandatory field of the ISC Triage Form. This data item would be used as standard reference for data completeness
 - Asked for patient consent as study participants
 - Performed eleven ISC data entries plus injury diagnosis and bodily location data entries in the HASS Clinical Form.

A senior NECHC physician expressed concern about doctors' compliance in data collection. He suggested if the ISC collection took less than 2 minutes, there would be chance to improve compliance. After discussion with Dr. F. Lau, Hue Quan modified the data capturing process for physicians to include only two fields: injury diagnosis and bodily location. The eleven ISC data entries were removed and the nurse would capture the "injury (Y/N)" mandatory field.

4.3 Assessment phase

There were a total of 197 "Y" injured cases recorded during the nurse group week. Triage nurses were able to capture ISC data from 98 cases. ISC data were validated through phone calls for 32 cases. Data completeness was 49.7%. According to the nurses, missed opportunities to collect data were due to high patient load. Nurses were did not have sufficient time to explain the study to patients, seek their consent, and do ISC data entries. Data correctness and presence of additional information were confirmed to be 100% for the 32 recorded cases. Also, there were neither missing data nor delayed entries for these 32 confirmed cases. During the registration clerk group week, there were a total of 172 injured cases recorded. The Triage Form Injury (Y/N) mandatory field entered by the triage nurse was used as a reference to determine the number of injured cases. Registration clerks were able to capture ISC data from 38 cases. Data completeness was 22.1%. According to the clerks, missed opportunities to collect data were again due to overwhelming patient load. ISC data were validated through phone calls for 15 cases. Data correctness and the presence of additional information were confirmed to be 100% for all 15 cases. There were neither missing data nor delayed entries for these 15 confirmed cases. There were 154 "Y" injured cases during the physician week and no ISC data were collected (Table 4.2). The ISC injury-related data results were retrieved from HASS repository (Appendix C).

Table 4.2. Summary	of the	three data	collection	groups
--------------------	--------	------------	------------	--------

Staff	Injured population	Data Complete- ness	Confirmed cases	Data Correctness	Additional information	Missing data	Data entry delay
Nurse	197	49.7%	32	100%	100%	none	попе
Registrat- ion clerk	172	22.1%	15	100%	100%	none	none
Physician	154	0%	0		*====		

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Conceptual framework

Employing the improvisational model required a process that recognized the different types of change or major events as they occurred and to respond effectively to them. Two sets of enabling conditions were essential: aligning key dimensions of the change process and dedicating resources to provide ongoing support for the change process. The key dimensions were the technology, the organizational context, and the change model. Ongoing support involved adapting both the organization and the technology to changing organizational conditions, use practices, and technological capability 2 .

4.4.2 Major events and their interpretations (Table 4.3)

- a. Anticipated changes
 - Project group formation with ISC implementation work-plan

The implementation was an incremental change instead of a transformational change. After the relatively successful adoption of HASS in September 1999, the ISC may be interpreted as an expansion of the system. The project group convened and addressed basic questions such as objectives of data collection, who would capture data, and what to do with the data. ISC implementation was perceived as a change in the structure of the center to further leverage the HASS capabilities. Almost all NECHC staff were familiar with the system log on procedure using username and password. They were able to navigate through different user interface screens. Some nurses mentioned they were able to learn and use the HASS system from their peers. One nurse commented that for her age, using a computer was a challenge but in the end she was fine. She had no problem with asking other nurses or reading the user manual.

• Data set development

How comprehensive would the ED injury surveillance data set be? The data set is an essential component of the project. The data set should be comprehensive, easy to apply, have good reliability, and enable analysis for injury control and prevention. A trauma service staff felt that computerized ED format should have the potential to collect real time data with details such as sport injury categories when cause of injury was related to sports. An ACICR injury specialist added:

"The most important thing is good quality data, maybe this is selfish but we need data with in-depth details." Another notion argued that the data required for injury surveillance really depended on the objectives of surveillance, the setting and practicality in which data were collected, the resources available, and especially user compliance. As one data specialist from ACICR noted:

"An ER injury data set has to be better than what we currently have. CHA hospitals already have the ACCS system that abstracts hospital charts. However, the data collected by this system are of limited value due to insufficient data items. It is important to manifest type of location, dynamics of an injury-causing event, context in which injury happens. We need relatively great depth of information. The challenge we face is how extensive we need and what about user compliance. Free-text entry describing what went wrong might be useful. " a NECHC senior member commented.

As a NECHC senior member commented:

"We should start with something at a smaller scale and do assessment to see how well the ISC acceptance is. After that we make decision to expand the amount of data to be collected, depending on the purpose of surveillance. Otherwise we get choke with a big piece."

HASS 's ISC data set was based on the Australian National Data Standards for Injury Surveillance (NDS-IS). The data items and coding specifications were divided into two levels. Level one was built primarily for basic, routine public health surveillance. Level two was designed to support most ED settings with addition of extended data items (Appendix B). The consensus was to introduce a modified level two for NECHC with data items representing most commonly occurred scenarios and make use of the free-text entry window. This unique window allowed users to describe what went wrong or to add any information they felt was useful and complement the structured data entry. A pre-test with ten typical injuries using the ISC was observed. The proportion of finding the appropriate codes was 60%, the remaining data were either captured in the free-text format or listed under miscellaneous. It was necessary to have Information System ED team's support in keeping data items updated.

workflow

Who would collect the data? An equally important component of the ISC implementation was to decide who was (were) the best candidate(s) for quality data collection. The practice needed to fit the work pattern, workflow, and its environment. A senior physician from RAH who had just finished an ED physician survey made this suggestion:

" If it takes doctors 2 minutes to do data entry per patient they have to spend 2 hours every shift after seeing 60 patients. Try to time the ISC data collection process. Anything more than 2 minutes will discourage the doctors."

Some nurses were curious about the injury surveillance feature within the HASS but a fewcould not hide the feeling that ISC might affect workload:

"When the center opened last year, we made use of the system's many features but now we are not entering items like diagnosis. Maybe we are too busy."

Registration clerks work on two separate systems. They read through HASS and transcribe patient demographics into the Enovation system. They need to complete the transcription in a timely manner, as patient records have to be released without tying up the data flow. The clerks also type in pharmacological information for seniors and Worker compensation related data for such cases. They believed ISC would affect their workload. To ease the ISC implementation and understand the workload situation better, a data collection trial was held with each staff category doing a complete week of ISC data collection. Data quality assessment based on electronic data and patient telephone interviews would be useful to determine who would be the most efficient ISC data collector.

What would an effective data collection pattern look like? ED patients always went to the triage nurse first and some information related to the ED visits was recorded. The patient's next stop was the registration clerk where demographics were entered. A clinical form was printed and inserted into a patient chart. Once inside the treatment area, the caregiver would either handwrite information onto the printout form or type in some information directly into the computer. After the patient was discharged, a summary was written and the patient was "released" from the computer. A NECHC staff specialized in ICD coding, abstracted patient chart diagnosis data the following day. One nurse said:

" Quite often, patient was questioned repeatedly for the same information. There are also duplication in data recording as the hand-written data might overlap that of the computer." One nurse raised the issue further:

"Not only there were duplication. When we paper chart information, we do not really follow a consistent pattern. I might ask what happened without asking when, how, and where." Another nurse suggested:

"It does not have to be nursing staff. Other professionals like respiratory, licensed practitioner nurse, orthopedic technician etc also contact patients. They could fill in and do the data as well."

The ISC addition was a challenge to the staff as it affected practice patterns and professional relations of individuals and groups within the center. The data collection pattern that included injury surveillance elements had to be clearly defined and well coordinated. The next caregiver should be able to follow the data the previous caregiver has captured and continue to conduct data collection in a seamless manner. Maybe the ISC could be the only official injury surveillance trial discarding the need for secondary handwritten notes. The data collection trial would shed some light on the issue.

• ISC data management

What happened to the collected data? Obviously, data were not collected for the sheer purpose of collecting. As mentioned in the literature review section, surveillance is defined as the systematic collection, analysis, interpretation, dissemination, and application of health data to a public health problem. A senior RAH ED physician explained: "*We should close the loop: collect the data and feedback to the community.*"

An ACICR injury specialist pointed out: "Once we have the data to identify injury problem, the community will get something in return."

One Public Health member asked: "*How do we send the data out, to whom, and who look after the data.*" According to this member, there would be a need to establish procedures for data management, quality assurance, report generating and dissemination according to local standards. All these functions would surface once the ISC was implemented. A NECHC nursing staff wondered:

"We are always collecting data. It would be nice to know what happens to the data, have they been used for some purposes?"

During the deployment phase, the NECHC project evaluator temporarily managed and made ISC data accessible for the study.

b. Opportunistic changes

• CHA set mandate for injury control and prevention

Edmonton Capital Health board had set a mandate for injury control and prevention as part of its health issues priorities. It recommended improved data collection and surveillance as part of a combination of strategy. This strengthened the ISC implementation at the NECHC. A senior NECHC staff was delighted:

"We have done ED services for a long time, this is an opportunity to move injury surveillance forward not to mention we have such a fantastic computer system at the center." An ACICR staff noted:

"Now you have the chance to do real time injury data collection. No doubt it is a challenge from my experience with data collection and compliance. It is exciting to see how you are doing."

• NECHC staff's improved participation

Finding out about staff attitudes during the deployment phase helped to identify areas where support could be provided to ease the process. Staff suggestions were considered and actions were taken to improve the conditions. For instance, a printed list of data items posted by the computers helped to query ISC listing. To streamline the study explanation part, a laminated sheet with a brief summary in pointed format was prepared. A communication book at the front desk gave staff the chance to input comments, ideas, and questions. It also included frequent briefings on how things were proceeding. Staff also believed that even though injury surveillance might not directly impact patient care in the ED setting , it did have an impact on injury control and prevention. The growing participation and involvement were evidence of a change from a relatively passive attitude to an active response.

• Project champions

Dr. G. Cummings assumed the role of a champion for the project. Kim Borden, ACICR data manager, had valuable input for injury data set development. Ms. Nonie Fraser Lee was assigned as project adviser by Public Health Research. These people were on board before the deployment phase. The implementation process reflected a multidisciplinary involvement.

• HASS implementation at the university hospital was on schedule

HASS at the University of Alberta Hospital (UAH) was implemented on schedule. Thus, the ED project team was able to allocate extra resources to

support the pilot ISC project in terms of computer application support, system enhancement and data items update. This accelerated the user preparation phase at the NECHC.

• NECHC HASS initial data reports

NECHC HASS data results from the first three months of operation indicated many unspecified causes of ED visits. This improved the acceptance of a comprehensive data set for injury control and prevention even though there were some concerns about the data required and resources available. An ACICR injury specialist addressed this issue:

" Do you notice the unusual number of unspecified causes? I do not think it serves any purposes when you have poor data quality."

- c. Emergent changes
 - Workflow

During the deployment phase some believed that ISC data entry took too much time, changed work patterns or even professional values. Staff already busy with patient care, paper charting and other HASS data entry required extra effort to explain the ISC study to the patient. The purpose was to obtain permission to collect the individual patient's injury data, and to do a phone interview the next day. It became another time constraint factor on staff. For example, a triage nurse while attempting to calm a crying injured child had to also try to explain the ISC study to the parents.

• Updating ISC data set was a challenge

Precise purposes of surveillance, the settings in which data were collected, and the resources available were important determinants of the data collected. The data set developed for the project (that is, predefined lists of injury-related questions or observations) could not meet all the terms of how, when, where, and what. The lists kept growing as unspecified or miscellaneous items increased . During the ISC deployment phase, there were two types of questions related to the use of data items. First, staff were not sure of the semantics of some of the data items. For example, patient slipped, fell and hit concrete. To register mechanism of injury, some users would key "fall by slipping" and some would pick "contact with static object". Second, and it happened quite often, the user could not find the appropriate data items to describe the situation. For instance, a child was run over by a garbage wagon inside a shopping mall. User would end up selecting "other or unspecified circumstance" as external cause. In some circumstances, staff found it confusing having to scroll the data item lists several times before they could click a button and sometimes were not even sure what was selected. Over time, staff began to pick data items closest to the described scenario and to make use of the free-text entry. Also, the Information System ED team updated the lists to address any changes.

• Data entry duplication

While the triage nurse collected ISC electronic data, subsequent caregivers in the treatment room area were handwriting some patient injury information that overlapped with what had already been captured by the ISC. According to a NECHC research assistant:

" Physician prefers to write notes in physician section, nurses also fill up the blank area designated for nurse. There are certain duplication in what caregivers are writing."

• Physician training was modified

Physicians were less enthusiastic in using computers to collect data given the workload and fee-for-service arrangement. A week before the physician's data collection trial, a senior NECHC physician mentioned:

" I do not think it will work for physicians. We have HASS in place for several months. It takes 10 seconds to sign on and only 1/3 of the physicians do it. To do consult entry, it takes about 30 second and none of the physicians use the function. We have skill but it is rather for something else like patient care, not clerical work." One NECHC physician commented:

"I make rounds and see the patients, five or more consecutively. By the time I could make it to the computer, I might not be able to remember what injury questions or whom I have asked. I could write it down during visits but time is a factor. I just do not have time to write notes and rewrite it on the computer. I have heard about using hand held devices but still one has to click or key it in while contacting patients." Another physician mentioned this: "My working schedule here at the NECHC is almost once in every three or four weeks. I might be able to learn how to use the computer but three or four weeks after I rotate back to here, I might not be able to remember how to use the computer."

With these changes, a decision was made to modify ISC training and data collection during physician week. Physicians were requested just to key in the two injury-related data elements during the trial: diagnosis and bodily locations. Other ISC data entries were left out.

• Adjusted interview schedule

Due to staff coverage and patient load issues during the deployment phase, the interview was carried out during training sessions instead of being held pre and post deployment as initially planned. Also, pre-scheduled training sessions were quite often modified to accommodate changes. Staff's overall impression of the relatively short training sessions was satisfactory and useful. For instance, they were able to navigate the ISC window from other screens with little difficulty.

• Data completeness was not optimal

Overall data completeness was less than 50%. Injury diagnosis and bodily location, two important pieces of information for injury surveillance, were missed almost totally. This would pose a challenge to data management and dissemination.

Limited resource to upgrade ISC or HASS

Considerations of user convenience and system functionality had impact on the implementation process. For instance, it would be helpful if the current version could let users capture primary and secondary injuries, tailor data entry screen, and print out reports. The ED team did not have the resources to revise user needs in a timely manner. As a senior ED team member mentioned:

"There are limitations to what HASS developers could do for the program as it works on contract basis. We have certain budget allocated to ISC..."

Table 4.3. Summary of the major events and interpretations. P = Planning phase, D = Deployment phase, P-D = shortly before deployment phase, A = Assessment phase

Type of	Event	Interpretation

change		
Anticipated	 Project group formation with ISC implementation work-plan (P) 	• An incremental change instead of a transformational change such as occurred after HASS implementation a year ago.
	 Development of a well balance data set (P) 	 Data set comprehensiveness depended on surveillance objectives, settings, and practicality
	• Workflow (P)	 Data collection trial helped to determine who would be the most efficient data collector Data collection trial also helped to determine how injury surveillance would fit into the ED work practice
-	• ISC data management (P)	ISC pilot at the NECHC helped to head start planning for data manufacture.
Opportunistic	• CHA set mandate for injury control and prevention (D)	 start planning for data management Organizational context: external environmental influence
	• NECHC staff participation (D)	 Round the clock support and feedback helped to improve staff participation in staff collection. Staff awareness of the importance of injury surveillance also played a role.
	Project champions (P-D)	Multidisciplinary involvement
	 HASS implementation at the university hospital was on schedule 	• ED project team was able to accelerate the ISC process at NECHC
	NECHC HASS initial data reports (P-D)	• Reinforced the belief to develop a comprehensive data set
Emergent	Workflow (D)	• The research nature and ethics requirement of the project needed extra effort from staff to collect ISC data and acquire permission from patients.
	• Updating ISC data set was a challenge (D)	Data items update was on-going
	• Data entry duplication (D)	Manual data entry was ingrained in work practice
	Physicians ISC training and data collection plan was modified (D)	Further work on physician's role in direct electronic data entry
	 Adjusted interview and training sessions (D) 	• Flexibility is needed to handle changes
	 Overall data completeness was less than 50% (A) 	 ISC data management and data dissemination would be a challenge as a result of lack of data completeness
	Limited resource to upgrade ISC or	Resource allocation to problem-solving

•	Overall data completeness was less than 50% (A)	•	ISC data management and data dissemination would be a challenge as a result of lack of data completeness
•	Limited resource to upgrade ISC or HASS (D)	•	Resource allocation to problem- solving was a challenge

4.4.3 Major events and their relations with organization and technology (Table 4.4)

It is important to depict the interaction among the three dimensions of change process: technology (information technology infrastructure, system features), organizational context (structure, culture, business process), and the change model. This allows the alignment of key change dimensions with results.

- a Change model and the technology
 - SC data set update

The technology was open-ended and customizable so the improvisational model provided the flexibility for NECHC to adapt and learn through use. For example when a user could not find a suitable external cause of injury item to fill data entry field, the ED team was able to respond immediately to address the issue. One evident result of the ever-growing data items was that at certain point, the list overwhelmed the user. The consequences of this unexpected effect could be poorer data quality, discouraged users, and a constrained future flexibility.

Workflow and system upgrade

The ISC introduction during deployment phase affected workflow and work practice. NECHC staff experienced time constraints in ISC data collection., For instance, finding a suitable data item to fill data entry field took time. A system upgrade would facilitate and expedite data gathering under this circumstance. There were situations where more than one injury cause or diagnosis was identified; an update to current the ISC version would help caregivers to accurately capture these data. Due to limited resources, the ED project team was not able to provide immediate support to revise the system functionality.

- b. Change model and organizational context.
 - Data entry duplication

CHA and NECHC management's commitment to focus on organizational learning and employee empowerment was compatible with the model. For example, a data collection trial evaluating data collection patterns and discussion input from staff were evidences of a flexible management. One emergent change was the existence of overlapping electronic and paper passed data recording.. An organization employs innovation with the objective of improving performance and productivity. It assumes business processes defined as sets of activities often cutting across the major functional boundaries within organizations ^{3,4} can benefit through information technology interpreted as "automation". The paper-based record is familiar to a large number of users and it is relatively ingrained ⁵. Experts in management and information technology have begun to recognize the limitation of automation when business processes are automated without first streamlining and improving them⁶. The paper-based charting system and HASS coexisted during the ISC deployment phase. Caregivers could capture the same information without knowing what data was collected before and patients were questioned repeatedly. The lesson learned from this was that redefining the boundaries of the ISC data capturing process and identifying its critical performance measures can help avoid the pitfalls of automating an unfavorable and inappropriate process. For example, NECHC could adopt ISC as the sole and official injury data collection tool and discard the paper-based charting of injury events.

• Physicians reluctant to do ISC data entry

Another emergent change was physician unwillingness to do data entry. There has long been ambivalence on the part of physicians concerning the use of computer-based patient records (CPR) and especially concerning data entry. Some physicians perceive CPR entry as taking away from patient care

52

time by having them do extra clerical work. Others, not the physicians themselves, experience the advantage that CPR can provide ⁷. The physician's lack of understanding of the long-term value of CPR has led to widespread organizational stress⁶. Data entry, in particular, has been shown to be a major issue for CPR. This disincentive is also compounded by the fee-for-service arrangement ⁸. The concept of "fit" is central to understanding the interaction of CPR with its organizational context ⁶. If an organization wants to change the user's behavior or belief in innovation adoption, it must emphasize the need to change either prior to or concurrently with the introduction of the system. If the implementation is not carefully planned and it does not take organizational context into account, the new system may be put in place but the organization is likely to stay status quo. The desired outcomes would not likely then occur.

c. Organizational context and technology. 9,10

The NECHC 's health delivery model, team-oriented work practice, its tolerance to changes, and the ISC 's technical versatility allow the improvisational model to be applied into the center's ED setting. Indeed, NECHC could take advantage and leverage HASS technicality to improve ISC data collection. For example, to streamline injury data collection and avoid duplication, one challenge would be to install the ISC report option into HASS. Injury data printed along with the ED triage data would let subsequent caregivers follow the data previous caregivers had captured The ED team was not budgeted at the time to upgrade the system functionality. The plan to advance this system add-on functionality was to be delayed until next budget season.

Table 4.4. Summary of major changes and their relationships with organization and technology. O = organization, T = technology

Type of	Event	0	T	Lessons Learned
change				

Anticipated	Project group formation with ISC	1	·	Organizational
	implementation work-plan	V	√	Organizational commitment crucial
	Development of a well balanced			Injury surveillance data set should be
	data set	V	√	comprehensive, aligned with surveillance objectives, and practical.
	Workflow			Redefining the data collection process as a
		√		whole e.g. adopting electronic data as an official source of data capturing
	ISC data management	┼	+	Organization should clearly define process
		V		for data management and dissemination during planning phase
Opportunist	CHA set mandate for injury	†	+	Organization should leverage external
ic	control and prevention	√		environmental influence
	NECHC staff participation		1	Round the clock support would greatly
		\checkmark	√	motivate user participation
	Project champions	√		Champions are necessary to move the project forward
	HASS implementation at the			Resource allocation is important to
	university hospital was on schedule	√	√	expedite the project
	NECHC HASS initial data reports			Evidence and facts from past experience
		√	V	such as HASS initial data reports would help to promote the project
Emergent	Workflow	<u> </u>		Resources are needed to ease the change
C			V	process
	Updating ISC data set was a challenge		Ţ,	Technical support is necessary
	Data entry duplication	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$		Organization should redefine the data
				collection process as a whole and adopt
				ISC as the official data capturing tool
	Physicians ISC training and data collection plan was modified	V		Champions are needed to facilitate changes
	Adjusted interview and training sessions	V		Flexibility is necessary to accommodate changes.
	Overall data completeness was	\checkmark	V	Technical support and organization's
	less than 50%			reinforcement of its injury surveillance commitment are crucial
	Limited resource to upgrade ISC	\checkmark		Organization should prioritize resource
	or HASS			allocation and respond to immediate needs

d. Dedicating resources for ongoing support.

According to the improvisational change model, ongoing change process requires dedicated support over time to adapt both the organization and the technology to changing organizational conditions, work practices, and

technological capabilities.¹¹ During the planning phase, the leadership of the champions and direct involvement of senior management established guidelines for ISC initiation process. In addition, the project took advantage of opportunistic changes, in particular injury prevention defined by the Edmonton Health Board as a public health priority. This required attention on the external environment of the project. The external environment, namely the mandate set by the health authority, influenced the course of ISC implementation. Thus, the planning phase with ISC data set developmentwas greatly accelerated. Over the deployment phase, constant contact with ISC users, timely response to their needs, round the clock support, and technological intervention by the ER team to update data lists proved to ease the transition to ISC use. Visible evidence was the change of attitude from passive to active participation. Staff came up with an increasing number of comments and feedback as to how to make the system work better. The continuous monitoring of the implementation process and the ability to discern major events was perceived to be productive. One of the emergent changes that needed to be focused on was the response from the physicians. According to these physicians, time was a major hurdle for data entry. Further studies related to organizational issues and system implementations are necessary to assess the overall role of physicians in injury data gathering.

4.5 Recommendation

1. Champion in injury control and prevention.

Injury surveillance is an aspect of public health that could be dramatically transformed by the application of information technology. Injury control intervention reflects legislatively mandated policies in government context. The impact and usefulness of ED injury surveillance system on injury prevention practice only becomes apparent if it contributes to control and prevention of adverse injury events in a community. Injury prevention champion characterizes injury trends and patterns and operates through government agencies to implement regulatory measures and policy directives.

2. Workflow and ISC data collection

Computer has considerable limitations when the system is implemented without first streamlining and addressing the perception of data collection process. The study has demonstrated the existence of duplication and physicians' uneasiness in electronic data capturing. To improve the effectiveness and success of ISC implementation, the process could be revised. Nursing staff will be the primary ISC data collector. During the triage stage, nurse keys in chief complaint description and the ISC details that will be printed out on the Assessment form. ISC details describe the context of the injury such as where, when, how, etc. The form is attached to the patient chart and used by other ED caregivers in subsequent stages. This will help to minimize the chances of patients being questioned repeatedly for the same injury information. Physician completes the ISC data documentation by handwriting injury diagnosis and anatomical locations onto the Assessment form. These two data elements will be abstracted and transcribed to computers.

3. Technical support and system upgrade

As part of the effort to improve data quality and compliance, the computer user interface needs to address the time constraint factor in the ED setting. Users should be able to capture comprehensive ISC data in a timely manner. Two interface design options are suggested.

- Free text entry and data abstract. The ISC will allow free text entry into each of its data fields such as external cause, place of injury, injury mechanism, etc. Coding free text data into a relational database form (abstract) would be applied afterwards. There are software applications available that perform data abstracts with high sensitivity and specificity (Appendix D).
- Selective pick-list. Current ISC versions require user to scroll through long list of data items before a reasonable choice can be found. For example, to locate subtype place of injury-(kitchen inside a residential unit) the user has to go through all kinds of facility structures that include agriculture complexes, fitness compartments, etc. Having a
'smart' selective pick-list by limiting subtype of place to domestic units once user selects residential, would reduce the time spent in screening data.

- 4. Data management and dissemination
 - HASS should be able to generate ISC data reports in a case-based or aggregate manner to meet public health surveillance, clinical research and administrative needs.
 - HASS user involvement and participation in system development have been practiced early on as an important factor of system success. The perceived usefulness of ISC data should be encouraged, as usefulness is believed to be a very significant factor in system use intentions. IS aggregate data reports, dissemination and their impact in community injury control and prevention facilitates user's system ownership and commitment to the system.
 - ISC data subject to standard practices of management and quality control. Data are released in accordance with rules and regulations established by direction of data ownership. A data manager will establish procedures for quantity and quality control, coordinate with data users on generating reports, data retrieval and analysis etc.

4.6 Conclusions

This study examines the contribution of the improvisational model to technological innovation in an emergency room setting. Informatics implementation is a complex change process that often involves wide-ranging effects. Traditional models usually manage change as a sequential series of predefined steps. This improvisational model recognizes and capitalizes on the fact that change is ongoing and uncertain. The model is particularly befitting to a turbulent organizational environment in which the technology being implemented is open-ended and customizable. It is also helpful when the organization tolerates change as a norm. The NECHC is built on a primary health care model

emphasizing innovative practice and promoting integration of service while focusing on the needs of clients. Its commitment in delivering this health concept constitutes a framework in justifying the application of the improvisational model. The course of ISC implementation experiences the anticipated, opportunistic, and emergent changes that reflect the unprecedented, complex, open-ended, and flexible nature of technology, people, and organization involvement. Recognizing major events or changes as they occur and responding to them effectively by aligning the three key dimensions, namely technology, change model, and organizational context, have proven to have a significant impact on ISC implementation. There are still unsolved issues surrounding ISC adoption and adaptation. The balance between information needs for injury prevention and existing data collection resources, the difficult aspects of physician data entry, data management and system capabilities pose critical challenges to the very objectives of introducing an electronic injury surveillance system in an emergency room setting. An effective execution of the model requires constant review, assessment, and adjustment of the technology, people, and organization. As a result of these activities, it is equally important to allocate resources to support the ongoing changes.

4.7 References

- 1. Alberta Ambulatory Care Classification Documentation April, 1998
- Orlikowski WJ, Hofman DJ. An Improvisational Model for Change Management: The Case of Groupware Technologies. Sloan Management Review, 1997; 38(2):11-24
- 3. Davenport T.H. Process Innovation: Reengineering Work through Information Technology. Harvard Business School Press, Boston, MA, 1993
- 4. Hammer M., Champy J. Reengineering the Corporation-a Manifesto for Business Revolution. Harper Business, New York, NY, 1993
- 5. Ball M.J., Collen M.F. Aspects of the Computer-Based Patient Record. Springer-Verlag, 1992, pp 24-29
- Markus M.L., Soh C. "Banking on Information Technology: Converting IT Spending into Firm Performance" in Perspective on the Strategic and Economic Value of Information Technology Investment, R.D. Banker, R.J. Kauffman, and M.A. Mahmood (eds), Idea Group Publishing, Middletown, PA, 1993, pp 364-392
- 7. Valenta A.L., Wigger Ulrike . Early Results of User Profiles: Physicians'Opinions on the Use of Information Technology. AMIA, 1996:65-69
- 8. Kaplan Bonnie. Reducing barriers to Physician data Entry for Computer-based Patient Records. Top Health Inform Manage, 1995, 15(1):24-34
- Silver M.S., Markus M.L., Beath C.M. The Information technology Interaction Model: A Foundation for the MBA Core Course. MIS Quarterly September, 1995:361-387
- 10. Orlikowski W.J. Improvising Organizational Transformation over Time: A Situated Change Perspective. Information System Research, volume 7, March 1996, pp 63-92
- Orlikowski W.J. Evolving with Notes: Organizational Change around Groupware Technology. Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Sloan School of Management, working paper 3823, 1995

 Markus M.L., Keil M. If We Build It They Will Come: Designing Information Systems That Users Want To Use. Sloan Management Review(35;4), Summer 1994, pp 11-25

Chapter 5 Summary

5.1 Abstract

This project describes the implementation of an emergency department (ED) injury surveillance system at a local community health center. The improvisational model of technological change by Orlikowski and Hofman is used as a conceptual foundation to explain the innovation process in this complex, turbulent and flexible setting. Key dimensions' interdependent relationship and its influence on workflow and data collection are explored.

5.2 Introduction

Surveillance is defined as the systematic collection, analysis, interpretation, dissemination, and application of health data to a public health problem.¹ Hospital ED data represent an important but underused source of information for injury-surveillance effort. Public health professionals want to collect and analyze this ED visits population data to develop and evaluate strategies for injury control and prevention.^{2, 3,4} A local community health center NECHC (NorthEast Community Health Center) in Edmonton opened its ED service in September1999. The ED implemented a computer system called Hospital Administration Software Solutions (HASS) with an Injury Surveillance System component (ISC) which has not been utilized.

This project examines the process of implementing the ISC at NECHC in terms of workflow and capture of surveillance data. First, existing surveillance initiatives are identified. Second, major streams of technological innovation are described. A model is used to provide a conceptual framework for information system implementation. Third, the research design encompassing study approach, location, study phases, system information, subjects, data sources, and method is discussed. Last, key changes, their relationships with the organization and technology, and the significance of these findings are discussed.

5.3 ED injury surveillance system as a technological innovation

5.3.1 Existing injury surveillance initiatives

Routine data on injuries derived from mortality statistics do not provide morbidity information.⁷ Trauma registries focus primarily on injuries on a severity scale.¹³ This incomplete and non-representative injury data do not describe accurately the scope of injury. Canada has a national database CHIRPP (Canadian Hospitals Injury Reporting and Prevention Program) but it is at a national level and is not specific in identifying local injury problems.⁸ Alberta 's ACCS (ambulatory care classification system) is used throughout the province's emergency departments. Its main purpose is to predict resource needs and cost management.⁹

5.3.2 ED electronic injury data collection

Injury problems and trends vary between communities, and specific information is needed to prioritize control programs and assess the effectiveness of control measures.^{5,6,7,10,12} Computer-based patient record (CPR) systems offer access (availability, timeliness, reliability, and ease of use), quality, security, flexibility, and efficiency.^{35, 36} Public health information standards are changing throughout the world. Harmonizing data standards such as data definitions, component structures, code values, and data use allow for more effective collaborations among public health agencies and healthcare providers. It also increases acceptability, simplicity, and flexibility to the persons actually using the CPR systems ^{37, 38}. These potential benefits along with population-based characteristics have positioned the community ED electronic injury data collection at the forefront of injury surveillance data. It meets public health surveillance system guidelines and explicit criteria such as simplicity, flexibility, acceptability, timeliness, representativeness, sensitivity, and positive predictive value.^{39,40}

5.3.3 Major Streams on Technological Innovation

a. Major themes and streams

Most initial studies on innovation have examined two perspectives – adoption and diffusion.¹¹ Adoption perspective evaluates the characteristics of an organization that make it responsive to innovation and change. Diffusion perspective attempts to understand why and how innovation spreads and what leads to widespread acceptance. Later studies have described the stage model of diffusion integrating theories from organizational change, innovation, and technology diffusion literature. The stage model includes initiation, adoption, adaptation, acceptance, routinization, and infusion. This six-phase implementation process can be related to Lewin's change model of unfreezing, changing and refreezing.¹⁴ By contrast, some authors present an episodic and discontinuous pattern of adaptation. They suggest that the learning curve be characterized between short, intensive periods of adaptation around new technologies and longer periods of relatively routine use.¹⁵

b. Improvisational model (Figure 5.1)

This project uses change management model with the conceptual framework based on the improvisational model by Orlikowski. The model defines three categories of changes in the implementation process: anticipated; emergent; and opportunity-based. Anticipated changes are planned ahead of time and occurred as intended. Emergent changes arise spontaneously and are not originally anticipated. Opportunity-based changes are not anticipated ahead of time but are introduced purposefully and intentionally during the change process. It further notes that planning should be considered only as a guide, and management creates an environment that facilitates improvisation instead of predefining each step and then controlling events to fit the plan. To effectively execute the model, it is necessary to make ongoing assessment and adjustment of the technology and the organization.¹⁵

5.3.4 Conditions justifying the model's application

The improvisational model requires a tolerance for flexibility, uncertainty, and complexity. It is appropriate for open-ended and customizable technologies. Certain ED and the mentioned surveillance computer system characteristics have been identified as befitting the application of such a model:

- ED is an intensive area in the hospital with rapid pace and emphasis on immediate treatment of patients in need of emergency care.¹⁶ As NECHC ED staff gained experience and understood the ISC better, they shifted their focus from sole care giving to both care giving and injury data documentation. This impact on workload may prompt structural changes.^{27,28,33}
- 2. In setting its vision-"healthier people in healthier communities"- the Edmonton Capital Health Authority (CHA) board had identified three health issues that had considerable influence on the health of people in the region and commanded a significant proportion of resources.³⁰ The board had considered these three issues, one of which was injury control and prevention as priorities for action. Managerial support from NECHC and the presence of champions e.g. Dr. L.Francescutti, chair of the advisory body of Alberta Center for Injury Control and Research (ACICR), Dr. G. Cummings, Royal Alexandra Hospital emergency department chief had major role in ensuring and achieving a successful injury surveillance system implementation. Their experience, credibility and commitment to organizational learning and employee empowerment would establish a core competency factor to overcome challenges whether expected or unexpected. These characteristics were particularly compatible with the improvisational model.
- 3. There has been a tremendous dynamism in injury control and prevention in Alberta. ACICR has a provincial mandate to provide coordination and support for organizations and professionals in injury control. Trauma registry monitors serious injuries in trauma centers.¹³ CHA Public Health section addresses determinants of health and takes action to improve health at community level e.g. child injury prevention. ED physicians require injury surveillance data to practice preventive medicine in CHA EDs. Injury control in Alberta is a shared

64

responsibility.³⁴ and a successful injury surveillance system implementation needs to include these multi-disciplines and their information needs.^{29,32} It was also necessary to develop and present to all parties involved a clear vision of this project; namely, implementation of a community-based pilot project aimed at local specific injury problems.

- 4. There are circumstances which are sufficiently sensitive for ED care providers to document injuries e.g. child abuse, sexual assault.^{17, 18} It was recognized that data capturing under these ED situations could be a challenge.^{19, 20,25,26}
- 5. As it is noted in Appendix B, the computer system to be implemented represented an open-ended and customizable version of information technology



5.4 Project Objective and Research Question

Project objective is to implement and assess an ED injury surveillance system at a local community health center. The research question is to determine if the theory of improvisation can be used to explain the implementation in terms of workflow and capture of surveillance data.

5.5 Research design

5.5.1 Research location

NorthEast (NE) Edmonton has a population of 66,941 with 33,918 female and 33,023 male. There are 24,170 female and 24,154 male under 45 years old for a total of 48,324 (72.2%)⁴⁴. Private household is 22,441 with an average income \$44,196 and a median of \$39,935 (\$51,118 average and \$42,701 median for all Alberta)⁴⁵. The NECHC provides emergency services in addition to Laboratory, Family Health, Mental Health and other services. Emergency service is available on a 24-hours, 7 days per week basis (Appendix A). Emergency Medical Services (EMS) arranges patient transfers to other facilities for hospital admission since NECHC does not have in-patients beds.²¹

Royal Alexandra Hospital (RAH), a nearby tertiary care hospital showed that 75% ED visits of its 1994 emergency service came from NE with 45% adolescence. A study, assessing the health needs of the NE community, indicated a relatively high level of injuries on a per capita ²². During the first three months of its opening, the center had over 6,500 ED visits.³¹

5.5.2 Study phases

The study was conducted over a period of eleven months and consisted of three phases: planning, deployment, and assessment (Table 5.1, 5.2)

a. Planning phase

It began mid November 1999 that included the project group formation with its core members, development of a comprehensive injury data set, data management with data dissemination consideration, and workflow study.

b. Deployment phase

The deployment phase consisted of ISC installation, a data collection trial to determine the most effective way to capture quality data by NECHC staff, and work flow study.

c. Assessment phase

The assessment phase would involve qualitative analysis and descriptive statistics based on data collected during the planning and deployment phases.

Phases	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	June	July	Aug	Sep
	99	99	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00
Planning	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x		
Deployment							<u> </u>			x	
Assessment	<u> </u>			+			<u> </u>			x	x

Table 5.1. Timelines of the implementation study phases

Phases	Tasks
Planning	 Project group formation with ISC implementation workplan Data set development
	 Data management consideration that included data dissemination Work flow study
Deployment	 ISC installation Data collection trial with staff training Work flow study
Assessment	Data analysis

Table 5.2. Summary of the tasks during implementation study phases

5.5.3 Technology (Appendix B)

ISC was a component resided within HASS ^{23,24}. When the ISC window opened during triage or following the update of patient record, patient's last/first name, date of birth, age, sex, date of injury, and presenting problem would be transferred from the triage window. If staff were busy and unable to complete the

data immediately, data could be entered at a more convenient time. ISC user could re-enter the injury surveillance window from other screens by performing a patient search or double clicking on the record from a patient list (Figure 5.2)

	hureday					Vieit Ha: 60	Hez 0.	ally Patient to	x << 🔽	>
Lin	ked	Admit /	Disch.	Ale	ns		1		CAS	Lard 6
MRTL D.O	100003 Et 12 MAY		ast Name: Age:		5 mitha	s 25 days				
	of injury: 3		Time of	Injury: 07	15	injury Ca	use: 09	FALL		
	cription of ir					Human i	ntent. 01	ACCIDENT, I	NURY NO	NTEN
TEADAC DF ABD	CMENAL P	F OF CHEST AN RADIAT	PAN, SUD	CEN ONSE	الد ۲	Type of F	Place: 09	NOUSTRIAL		
DAACT C										
	OOT SNEA	KERS SOLE	CAME AV	VAY FRON	1	Type of F	Place: 09 2	DEMOLITION	SITE	
HOEO	OOT SNEA VERALLS	kers sole	CAME AV	VAY FRON			Piece: 09 2 Piece: 43	DEMOLITION		DING O
HOEO	OOT SNEA VERALLS	kers sole	CAME AV	VAY FRON		Pert of F	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		ATH A BLE	DING O
HOEO	OOT SNEA VERALLS	kers sole	CANE AV	VAY FRON	ات	Part of F	Piace. 43	AREA DENE	ATH A BLE	DING O
SHOE O	OOT SNEA VERALLS	kers sole	CANE AV	VAY FRON	٦	Part of F	Pace: 43 May 01 ector: 0601	AREA BENE	ATH A BLE	DING O
5HOE 0'	OOT SNEA VERALLS		CALLE AV	VAY FRON		Part of F Action Action	Place: 43 Ivty: 01 actor: 0601 Intern: 72	AREA BENE SPORTS AC BALL SUN LIGHT	ATH A BLE	DINC O
5HOE 0'	VERALLS		CARE AV	VAY FRON		Pert of F <u>Acti</u> Injury Fr Injury Neche Medicel Record I	Place: 43 Ivty: 01 actor: 0601 Intern: 72	AREA BENE SPORTS AC	ATH A BLE	Cies

Figure 5.2 ISC window

5.5.4 Subjects

The project involved RAH trauma service, Kim Borden * (ACICR staff), Carla Policcichio*(NECHC ER team leader), Dr. L.H.Francescutti *(Principal Investigator), Public Health research coordinator, CHA Information System ER project team, HASS developer, Dr. F. Lau*(Faculty of Business, thesis committee), *Dr. G. Cummings (RAH senior ER physician), NECHC physicians, nurses, registration clerks, patients, and thesis student Hue Quan. During the data collection trial, NECHC staff (physicians, nurses, registration clerks) who were scheduled on duties received 45 to 60 minutes of ISC computer training.

5.5.5 Method

a. Data sources (Table 5.4)

Data sources collected in this study were staff, patients, and ISC data repository.

1. Staff

Data collection was primarily from observations, meeting notes, interviews, training sessions, and documents. Due to confidentiality concerns raised by staff graduate student Hue Quan used field notes instead of tape recording interviews. Interview script was in Appendix E.

2. Patients

To validate ISC data collected during the trial, NECHC staff obtained consent from patients for follow-up telephone interviews Graduate student Hue Quan telephoned patients the day after patients' ED visits. If patients were not home or there was no answer, a second attempt was made an hour later. The case would be marked "patient not available" after 3 redial attempts. The interview was based on a script (Appendix E):

3. Patient case data (HASS repository)

Patient demographic and ISC electronic data were retrieved from the centrally stored Oracle database. A NECHC research staff and an ED system analyst assisted in downloading data from Oracle to Microsoft Access database, using Open Data Base Connectivity setup (ODBC). First, the NECHC patient data were separated from the data pool by using NECHC medical record number that had unique identifier starting with "0000". Next, patient cases were limited by the data collection trial dates. Lastly, injured patients identified by Injury (Y/N) = "Yes" data field were retrieved. The ISC data entries were summarized in Table 5.3:

Data Elements	Description	Data Types	
Last Name	Patient last name	Text of size 30	
Middle Name	Patient Middle Name	Text of size 30	
Medical Record Number	NECHC Patient medical record number started with "0000"	Text of size 12	
Gender	Patient gender	Male or Female	
Date of Birth	Patient date of birth	Date (DD-MMM-YYYY)	
Date of injury	Date injury event occurred	Date (DD-MMM-YYYY)	

Table 5.3. Patient demographic and ISC data elements

[•] project champion

Time of injury	Time injury event occurred	Time (HH:MM)
Brief description	Free-text entry of what went wrong. It could provide additional information.	Memo
Brand name/product fault	Product related to injury event e.g. child walker	Memo
Safety equipment or device	Equipment or device used during the injury event e.g. seat belt	Memo
External injury cause	Event, circumstance or condition associated with the occurrence of injury, poisoning or violence	Text of size 30
Human intent	The role of human intent in the occurrence of injury as assessed by caregivers	Text of size 30
Type of place	The type of place at which the person was situated when injured.	Text of size 30
Activity	The specific type of activity being undertaken by the person when injured	Text of size 30
Injury factor	Types of objects and substances involved in the occurrence of the injury	Text of size 30
Injury mechanism	The way in which the injury was sustained	Text of size 30
Nature of main injury	The nature of the injury chiefly responsible	Text of size 30
Bodily location	The anatomical location of the injury chiefly responsible.	Text of size 30

Table 5.4. Summary of data sources

Data Source	Volume	Туре
Email	68	qualitative
NECHC references documenting how NECHC was established	5	qualitative
HASS user training manuals	2	qualitative
ACICR's Alberta Injury Data Report	1	quantitative
Meeting notes, notes as a result of direct observations, interview, field notes, and comment book	32 pages	qualitative
Patient case data (HASS repository)	3 weeks trial data	quantitative

b. Analysis

1. Content analysis.

Email, field notes, documents were analyzed for content with NUDIST (Non-numerical Unstructured Data Indexing Searching and Theorizing) software. NUDIST is a computer package designed to aid users in handling Non-numerical and Unstructured Data. NUDIST supports qualitative analysis, enabling the processing of coded data through an Index System, searching text or patterns of coding and theorizing about the data (Appendix D). Data were organized according to the following steps:

- Making a document system.
- Inserting text annotations
- Using nodes. NUDIST provided node for Document Annotations at which annotations could be coded. Text unit of any length could be inserted and coded at Document Annotations as ideas occurred.
- 2. ISC data quality assessment

The study used the following criteria for data quality assessment: data completeness, data correctness, additional information, missing data, timeliness

Data completeness: ISC injury (yes/no) field in the Triage Form was a mandatory data entry field. Hence it could be used as standard reference for determining the number of injury-related ED visits i.e. true injury. Completeness was the proportion of all injury events of interest that were captured by ISC and was calculated as a/(a + c). (Table 5.5)

Table 5.5. Data completeness and correctness

	True injury	False injury	Total
Injury events captured by ISC	a	b	a + b
Injury events missed by ISC	c	d	c + d
Total	a+c	b+d	a+b+c+d

• Data Correctness: Correctness was the proportion of observations that truly had the injury events of interest and was calculated as a/(a + b) 41,42,43 . The injury-surveillance population of interest was (a + c) which was presumably eligible for capture by ISC. The total ED patient visits which included injury-related and non-injury related sets of patients was (a + b + c + d). Patients would be phoned next day to obtain relevant injury data. Measuring the agreement between respondent information and that provided by the ISC would determine data correctness (Table 5.5).

- Additional information: The ISC injury brief description window was a free text entry field. It gave staff the opportunity to supplement the ISC coded data. It would appear logical to search this data item for confirmation and expansion of coded data items.
- Missing data: Charting practice that left data entry fields blank introduced ambiguity because it might be interpreted either as nonresponsive patient or ED staff forgetting to collect information. Missing data was calculated as a proportion of total injury data items (c/a + c).
- Timeliness: There were circumstances in which patient condition was considered urgent. ED staffs were encouraged to do real-time data entry but also had the option to put comment suggesting data collection would be deferred in an emergency situation.

3. Patient case statistics

Total injury cases would be provided during each of the three weeks data collection trial (Appendix C) along with percentage distributions of each of the following injury surveillance data items:

- External cause
- Human intent
- Type of place
- Type of activity
- Injury factors
- Injury mechanisms

5.6 Findings

5.6.1 Planning phase and current workflow

A patient presenting to the NECHC ED was triaged by a nurse and chief complaint was recorded directly into HASS system. Chief complaint is a mandatory field. Unless the patient needed immediate care, he or she proceeded to the registration clerk where demographics were obtained and keyed into a separate system called Enovation. These 2 systems did not communicate to each other. Clerk had to transfer HASS data to Enovation in a timely manner so as not tie up the flow of patient records. The registration desk, then, printed out a patient registration form (PRF). When the patient was inside a treatment room, physician or nurse charted physical examination and detailed assessment either into HASS or PRF. HASS system was complemented with hand-written notes, progress notes, discharge planning, and forms that resided in the patient binder. Once patient was discharged or transferred to a tertiary hospital, the encounter was considered closed. Diagnosis and intervention, if any, data were abstracted into the Ambulatory Care Classification System (ACCS) 's 3M database. The data collected for ACCS is used to classify ambulatory service recipients into clinical groups with similar resource needs and clinical profiles ⁹(Figure 5.3).

5.6.2 Deployment phase

ISC was installed and activated during this phase.

a. Training

There were 8 training sessions with interviews for nurses: 4 one-to-one sessions, 2 sessions with groups of 2 and 2 sessions with groups of 3 nurses. For registration clerks, there were 5 training sessions with interviews: 3 one-to-one sessions, 1 session with group of 2 and 1 session with group of 3 clerks. Physician training sessions with interviews were comprised of 4 one-to-one sessions. (Table 5.6). Initial planning was to have pre and post deployment interviews. As a result of discussions with the NECHC team leader, interviews were held once during training due to staff coverage and patient load issues during the deployment phase. In addition, pre-scheduled training sessions were often modified to

accommodate schedule changes. For example, a cardiac patient's hemodynamic symptoms became exacerbated and extra personnel were required. Scheduled session was usually re-arranged and, 2 groups of 3. For registration clerks, there were 5 training sessions with interviews: 3 one-to-one, 1 group of 2 and 1 group of 3. Physician training sessions with interviews were 4 one-to-one. (Table 5.6). Due to staff coverage and patient load issues during deployment phase, interviews were held once during training after discussion with NECHC team leader. Initial planning was to have pre and post deployment interviews. Also, pre-scheduled training sessions were quite often modified to accommodate the changes. For example, a cardiac patient's hemodynamic symptoms became exacerbated and extra personnel were required. Scheduled session was usually re-arranged and, sometimes, it was carried out inside treatment room or at the front desk so nurses could participate and simultaneously monitor patients.

	Group	Group	Group	Total staff	Training
Staff	of 1	of 2	of 3	trained	duration
Nurse	4	2	2	14	
Registration clerk	3	1	1	8	45 to 60 minutes per
Physician	4	0	0	4	session except 1 for 15 minutes
Total	11	3	3	26	

Table 5.6.	Summar	y of ISC	training





Figure 5.3 Current work flow diagram

b. Workflow

During the ISC deployment phase, there were three groups of staff involved in the data collection trial: physicians, nurses, and registration clerks. Each group collected a week's injury-related data (estimated to be about 100 patients). The trial was done in three consecutive weeks for the three groups. NECHC staff explained the study to patients, sought their consent, obtained permission for phone interviews, and entered injury-related data directly into HASS. This injury surveillance project and its accompanied data collection were additional to staff 's concurrent workflow and documentation routine. Most were already familiar with HASS's existing functionality and evaluated the relatively short ISC training session as satisfactory. Peer learning was considered a convenient resource, on par with support from ED project team and graduate student Hue Quan. For example, staff found the summarized version of the study in bullets format (prepared by Hue Quan) helpful while recruiting patients to participate.

5.6.3 Assessment phase

There were a total of 197 "Y" injured cases recorded during the nurse group week. Triage nurses were able to capture ISC data from 98 cases. ISC data were validated through phone calls for 32 cases. Data completeness was 49.7%. According to the nurses, missed opportunities to collect data were due to high patient load. Nurses were did not have sufficient time to explain the study to patients, seek their consent, and do ISC data entries. Data correctness and presence of additional information were confirmed to be 100% for the 32 recorded cases. Also, there were neither missing data nor delayed entries for these 32 confirmed cases. During the registration clerk group week, there were a total of 172 injured cases recorded. The Triage Form Injury (Y/N) mandatory field entered by the triage nurse was used as a reference to determine the number of injured cases. Registration clerks were able to capture ISC data from 38 cases. Data completeness was 22.1%. According to the clerks, missed opportunities to collect data were again due to overwhelming patient load. ISC data were validated through phone calls for 15 cases. Data correctness and the presence of additional information were confirmed to be 100% for all 15 cases. There were neither missing data nor delayed entries for these 15 confirmed cases.

There were 154 "Y" injured cases during the physician week and no ISC data were collected (Table 5.7). The ISC injury-related data results were retrieved from HASS repository (Appendix C).

Staff	Injured	Data	Confirmed	Data	Additional	Missing	Data entry
	population	Complete-	cases	Correctness	information	data	delay
		ness					
Nurse	197	49.7%	32	100%	100%	none	none
Registrat- ion clerk	172	22.1%	15	100%	100%	none	none
Physician	154	0%	0	*****			

Table 5.7. Summary of the three data collection groups

5.7 Discussion

5.7.1 Conceptual framework

Employing the improvisational model required a process to recognize the different types of change or major events as they occurred and to respond effectively to them. Two sets of enabling conditions were essential: aligning key dimensions of the change process and dedicating resources to provide ongoing support for the change process. The key dimensions were the technology, the organizational context, and the change model. Ongoing support involved adapting both the organization and the technology to changing organizational conditions, use practices, and technological capability.¹⁶

5.7.2 Major events and their interpretations

- a. Anticipated changes
 - Project group formation with ISC implementation work-plan

The ISC implementation may be interpreted as an expansion of the HASS system. The project group convened and addressed basic questions such as objectives of data collection, who would capture data, and what to do with the data.

• Data set development

How comprehensive would the ED injury surveillance data set be? The data set is an essential component of the project. The data set should be comprehensive, easy to apply, have good reliability, and enable analysis for injury control and prevention.

workflow

Who would collect the data? An equally important component of the ISC implementation was to decide who was (were) the best candidate(s) for quality data collection. The practice needed to fit the work pattern, workflow, and its environment. To ease the ISC implementation and understand the workload situation better, a data collection trial was held with

each staff category (nurse, registration clerk, and physician) doing a complete week of ISC data collection. Data quality assessment based on electronic data and patient telephone interviews would be useful to determine who would be the most efficient ISC data collector.

• ISC data management

What happened to the collected data? Obviously, data were not collected for the sheer purpose of collecting. There would be a need to establish procedures for data management, quality assurance, report generating and dissemination according to local standards. All these functions would surface once the ISC was implemented.

- b. Opportunistic changes
- CHA set mandate for injury control and prevention

Edmonton Capital Health board had set a mandate for injury control and prevention as part of its health issues priorities. It recommended improved data collection and surveillance as part of a combination of strategy. This strengthened the ISC implementation at the NECHC.

• NECHC staff's improved participation

Finding out about staff attitudes during the deployment phase helped to identify areas where support could be provided to ease the process. Staff suggestions were considered and actions were taken to improve the conditions. Staff also believed that even though injury surveillance might not directly impact patient care in the ED setting, it did have an impact on injury control and prevention. The growing participation and involvement were evidence of a change from a relatively passive attitude to an active response.

• Project champions

Dr. G. Cummings assumed the role of a champion for the project. Kim Borden, ACICR data manager, had valuable input for injury data set development. Ms. Nonie Fraser Lee was assigned as project adviser by Public Health Research. All these happened shortly before the deployment phase. Given these changes, the implementation process reflected a multidisciplinary involvement. • HASS implementation at the university hospital was on schedule

HASS at the University of Alberta Hospital (UAH) was implemented on schedule. Thus, the ED project team was able to allocate extra resources to support the pilot ISC project in terms of computer application support, system enhancement and data items update. This accelerated the user preparation phase at the NECHC.

NECHC HASS initial data reports

NECHC HASS data results from the first three months of operation indicated many unspecified causes of ED visits. This improved the acceptance of a comprehensive data set for injury control and prevention even though there were some concerns about the data required and resources available.

- c. Emergent changes
- Workflow

There were some beliefs during the deployment phase that ISC data entry took too much time, changed work patterns or even professional values. Due to research nature of the project and subsequent ethics, extra effort was needed to explain the ISC study to the patient in addition to staff's routines that included patient care, paper charting, and other HASS data entry. The purpose was to obtain permission to collect the individual patient's injury data, and to do a phone interview the next day. It became another time constraint factor on staff. For example, a triage nurse while attempting to calm a crying injured child had to also try to explain the ISC study to the parents.

• Updating ISC data set was a challenge

Precise purposes of surveillance, the settings in which data were collected, and the resources available were important determinants of the data collected. The data set developed for the project (that is, predefined lists of injury-related questions or observations) could not meet all the terms of how, when, where, and what. The lists kept growing as unspecified or miscellaneous items increased. In some circumstances, staff found it confusing having to scroll the data item lists several times before they could click a button and sometimes were not even sure what was selected. Over time, staff began to pick data items closest to the described scenario and to make use of the free-text entry. Also, the Information System ED team updated the lists to address any changes.

• Data entry duplication

While the triage nurse collected ISC electronic data, subsequent caregivers in the treatment room area were handwriting some patient injury information that overlapped with what had already been captured by the ISC.

Physician training was modified

Physicians were less enthusiastic in using computers to collect data given the workload and fee-for-service arrangement. A decision was made to modify ISC training and data collection during physician week. Physicians were requested just to key in the two injury-related data elements during the trial: diagnosis and bodily locations. Other ISC data entries were left out.

• Adjusted interview schedule

Due to staff coverage and patient load issues during the deployment phase, the interview was carried out during training sessions instead of being held pre and post deployment as initially planned. Also, pre-scheduled training sessions were quite often modified to accommodate changes. Staff's overall impression of the relatively short training sessions was satisfactory and useful. For instance, they were able to navigate the ISC window from other screens with little difficulty.

• Data completeness was not optimal

Overall data completeness was less than 50%. Injury diagnosis and bodily location, two important pieces of information for injury surveillance, were missed almost totally. This could pose a challenge to data management and dissemination.

Limited resource to upgrade ISC or HASS

Considerations of user convenience and system functionality had certain impact on the implementation process. For instance, it would be helpful if the current version could let users capture primary and secondary injuries, tailor data entry screen, and print out reports. The ED team did not have the resources to revise user needs in a timely manner.

Table 5.8. Summary of the major events and interpretations. $P = Planning phase$, $D = Planning phase$, $P = $	
Deployment phase, P-D = shortly before deployment phase, A = Assessment phase	

Type of	Event	Interpretation
change		
Anticipated	 Project group formation with ISC implementation work-plan (P) 	• An incremental change instead of a transformational change after HASS implementation a year ago.
	 Development of a well balance data set (P) 	• Data set comprehensiveness was depended on surveillance objectives, settings, and practicality
	• Workflow (P)	 Data collection trial helped to determine who would be the most efficient data collector Data collection trial also helped to determine how injury surveillance would fit into the ED work practice
	• ISC data management (P)	 ISC pilot at the NECHC helped to head start planning for data management
Opportunistic	 CHA set mandate for injury control and prevention (D) 	Organizational context: external environmental influence
	 NECHC staff participation (D) 	 Round the clock support and feedback helped to improve staff participation in staff collection. Staff awareness of the importance of injury surveillance also played a role.
	 Project champions (P-D) 	Multidisciplinary involvement
	 HASS implementation at the university hospital was on schedule 	 ED project team was able to accelerate the ISC process at NECHC
_	 NECHC HASS initial data reports (P-D) 	Reinforced the belief to develop a comprehensive data set
Emergent	• Workflow (D)	 The research nature of the project and subsequent ethics requirement needed extra effort from staff in addition to ISC data collection and other routine duties.
	• Updating ISC data set was a challenge (D)	Data items update was ever on-going
	• Data entry duplication (D)	• Manual data entry was ingrained in work practice
	 Physicians ISC training and data collection plan was modified (D) 	 Further work on physician's role in direct electronic data entry
	 Adjusted interview and 	Flexibility is needed to handle changes

training sessions (D)	
• Overall data completeness was less than 50% (A)	 ISC data management including data dissemination would be a challenge
 Limited resource to upgrade ISC or HASS (D) 	Resource allocation to problem-solving was a challenge

5.7.3 Major events and their relations with organization and technology (Table 5.9)

It is important to depict the interaction among the three dimensions of change process: technology (information technology infrastructure, system features), organizational context (structure, culture, business process), and the change model. This allows the alignment of key change dimensions with results.

- a Change model and the technology
 - SC data set update

The technology was open-ended and customizable so the improvisational model provided the flexibility for NECHC to adapt and learn through use. For example when a user could not find a suitable external cause of injury item to fill data entry field, the ED team was able to respond immediately to address the issue. One evident result of the ever-growing data items was that at certain point, the list overwhelmed the user. The consequences of this unexpected effect could be poorer data quality, discouraged users, and a constrained future flexibility.

Workflow and system upgrade

The ISC introduction during deployment phase affected workflow and work practice. NECHC staff experienced time constraints in ISC data collection. For instance, finding a suitable data item to fill data entry field took time. A system upgrade would facilitate and expedite data gathering under this circumstance. There were situations where more than one injury cause or diagnosis was identified; an update to current the ISC version would help caregivers to accurately capture these data. Due to limited resources, the ED project team was not able to provide immediate support to revise the system functionality.

- b. Change model and organizational context.
 - Data entry duplication

CHA and NECHC management's commitment to focus on organizational learning and employee empowerment was compatible with the model. For example, a data collection trial evaluating data collection patterns and discussion input from staff were evidences of a flexible management. One emergent change was the existence of overlapping electronic and paper-based data recording. An organization employs innovation with the objective of improving performance and productivity. It assumes business processes defined as sets of activities often cutting across the major functional boundaries within organizations ^{47,48} can benefit through information technology interpreted as "automation". The paper-based record is familiar to a large number of users and it is relatively ingrained ³⁶. Experts in management and information technology have begun to recognize the limitation of automation when business processes are automated without first streamlining and improving them ⁴⁹. The paper-based charting system and HASS coexisted during the ISC deployment phase. Caregivers could capture the same information without knowing what data was collected before and patients were questioned repeatedly. Lesson learned from this was that redefining the boundaries of the ISC data capturing process and identifying its critical performance measures can help avoid the pitfalls of automating an unfavorable and inappropriate process. For example, NECHC could adopt ISC as the sole and official injury data collection tool and discard the paper-based charting of injury events.

• Physicians reluctant to do ISC data entry

Another emergent change was physician unwillingness to do data entry. There has long been ambivalence on the part of physicians concerning the use of computer-based patient records (CPR) and especially concerning data entry. Some physicians perceive CPR entry as taking away from patient care

83

time by having them do extra clerical work. Others experience the advantage that CPR can provide for their patient care.⁵⁰ Physician's lack of understanding of the long-term value of CPR has led to widespread organizational stress. ⁴⁹ Data entry, in particular, has been shown to be a major issue for CPR. This disincentive is also compounded by the fee-for-service arrangement ⁵¹. The concept of "fit" is central to understanding the interaction of CPR with its organizational context ⁴⁹. If an organization wants to change the user's behavior or belief in innovation adoption, it must emphasize the need to change either prior to or concurrently with the introduction of the system. If the implementation is not carefully planned and it does not take organizational context into account, the new system may be put in place but the organization is likely to stay status quo. The desired outcomes would not likely then occur.

c. Organizational context and technology. 52,53

The NECHC 's health delivery model, team-oriented work practice, its tolerance to changes, and the ISC 's technical versatility allow the improvisational model to be applied into the center's ED setting. Indeed, NECHC could take advantage and leverage HASS technicality to improve ISC data collection. For example, to streamline injury data collection and avoid duplication, one challenge would be to install the ISC report option into HASS. Injury data printed along with the ED triage data would let subsequent caregivers follow the data previous caregivers had captured The ED team was not budgeted at the time to upgrade the system functionality. The plan to advance this system add-on functionality was to be delayed until next budget season.

Table 5.9. Summary of major	changes and their relationships with organization and the
technology. O = organization,	T = technology

Type of	Event	0	T	Lessons Learned
change				
Anticipated	Project group formation with ISC implementation work-plan	~	V	Organizational commitment is crucial

84

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Development of a well	T		Injury surveillance data set should be
	balance data set	V	√	comprehensive, aligned with surveillance objectives, and practical.
	Workflow	V		Redefining the data collection process as a whole e.g. adopted electronic data as an official source of data capturing
	ISC data management	V		Organization should clearly define process for data management and dissemination during planning phase
Opportunistic	CHA set mandate for injury control and prevention	1		Organization should leverage external environmental influence
	NECHC staff participation	\checkmark	V	Round the clock support would greatly motivate user participation
	Project champions	1		Champions are necessary to move forward the project
	HASS implementation at the university hospital was on schedule	√	V	Resource allocation is important to expedite the project
	NECHC HASS initial data reports	V	V	Evidence and facts from past experience such as HASS initial data reports would help to promote the project
Emergent	Workflow		√	Resources are needed to ease the change process
	Updating ISC data set was a challenge		V	Technical support is necessary
	Data entry duplication	1		Organization should redefine the data collection process as a whole and adopt ISC as the official data capturing tool
	Physicians ISC training and data collection plan was modified	V		Champions are needed to facilitate changes
	Adjusted interview and training sessions	1		Flexibility is necessary to accommodate changes.
	Overall data completeness was less than 50%	V	V	Technical support and organization's reinforcement of its injury surveillance commitment are crucial
	Limited resource to upgrade ISC or HASS	V		Organization should prioritize resource allocation and respond to immediate needs

d. Dedicating resources for ongoing support

According to the improvisational change model, ongoing change process requires dedicated support over time to adapt both the organization and the technology to changing organizational conditions, work practices, and technological capabilities.⁵⁴ During the planning phase, the leadership of the champions and direct involvement of senior management established guidelines for ISC initiation process. In addition, the project took advantage of opportunistic

changes, in particular injury prevention defined by the Edmonton Health Board as a public health priority. This required attention on the external environment of the project. The external environment, namely the mandate set by the health authority, influenced the course of ISC implementation. Thus, the planning phase with ISC data set development was greatly accelerated. Over the deployment phase, constant contact with ISC users, timely response to their needs, round the clock support, and technological intervention by the ER team to update data lists proved to ease the transition to ISC use. Visible evidence was the change of attitude from passive to active participation. Staff came up with an increasing number of comments and feedback as to how to make the system work better. The continuous monitoring of the implementation process and the ability to discern major events was perceived to be productive. One of the emergent changes that needed to be focused on was the response from the physicians. According to these physicians, time was a major hurdle for data entry. Further studies related to organizational issues and system implementations are necessary to assess the overall role of physicians in injury data gathering.

5.8 Conclusions

This study examines the contribution of the improvisational model to technological innovation in an emergency room setting. Informatics implementation is a complex change process that often involves wide-ranging effects. Traditional models usually manage change as a sequential series of predefined steps. This improvisational model recognizes and capitalizes on the fact that change is ongoing and uncertain. The model is particularly befitting to a turbulent organizational environment in which the technology being implemented is open-ended and customizable. It is also helpful when the organization tolerates change as a norm. The NECHC is built on a primary health care model emphasizing innovative practice and promoting integration of service while focusing on the needs of clients. Its commitment in delivering this health concept constitutes a framework in justifying the application of the improvisational model. The course of ISC implementation experiences the anticipated, opportunistic, and emergent changes that reflect the unprecedented, complex, open-ended, and flexible nature of technology, people, and organization involvement. Recognizing major events or changes as they occur and responding to them effectively by aligning the three key dimensions, namely technology, change model, and organizational context, have proven to have a significant impact on ISC implementation. There are still unsolved issues surrounding ISC adoption and adaptation. The balance between information needs for injury prevention and existing data collection resources, the difficult aspects of physician data entry, data management and system capabilities pose critical challenges to the very objectives of introducing an electronic injury surveillance system in an emergency room setting. An effective execution of the model requires constant review, assessment, and adjustment of the technology, people, and organization. As a result of these activities, it is equally important to allocate resources to support the ongoing changes.

5.9 Reference

- 1. Thacker SB, Berkelman Ruth L. Public Health Surveillance in the US. Epidemiologic Review 1988;10:164-190
- 2. Ing RT Surveillance in Injury Prevention .Public health Rep 1985; 100(6): 164-190
- 3. Thacker S B, Stroup D F. Future Directions for Comprehensive Public Health
- 4. Surveillance and Health Information Systems in the United States. Am J Epidemiol 1994;140:383-397
- 5. Macarthur C, Barry Pless. Colin. Evaluation of the Quality of an Injury Surveillance System. American J Epidemiology 1999; 149(6): 586-592
- 6. Gallagher S et al., The Incidence of Injuries among 87,000 Massachusetts Children and Adolescents: Results of the 1980-81 Statewide Childhood Injury Prevention Program Surveillance system. American J Public Health 1984;74(12);1340-347
- 7. Graitcer P. The Development of State and Local Injury Surveillance Systems. J Safety Research. 1987;18:191-198
- 8. Stone D H, Morrison A. Developing Injury Surveillance in Accident and Emergency Departments. Arch Dis Child;1998;78:108-110
- 9. Morrison A, Stone D H, Doraiswamy N, Ramsay L. Injury Surveillance in an Accident and Emergency Department: a Year in the Life of CHIRPP. Arch Dis Child, 1999; 80:533-536
- 10. Alberta Ambulatory Care Classification System Documentation April 1998
- 11. McClure RJ. The Australian Capital Territory Injury Surveillance and Prevention Project. Acad Emerg Med 1995;2:529-534
- 12. Walsham Geoff. Interpreting Information Systems in Organizations. Wiley. 1993
- 13. Weiss H et al. Injury Surveillance: A Statewide Survey of Emergency Department Data Collection Practices. Annals Emerg Med. 1996;28(5):635-640
- Mullins R, Mann Clay. Population-Based Research Assessing the Effectiveness of Trauma Systems. J Trauma: Injury, Infection, and Critical Care. 1999; 47(3):S59-S68
- 15. Lewin K. Group Decision and Social Change. Readings in Social Psychology (New York:Henry Holt, 1952), pp 459-473

- Orlikowski WJ, Hofman DJ. An Improvisational Model for Change Management: The Case of Groupware Technologies. Sloan Management Review, 1997; 38(2):11-24
- Baker DW, Stevens CD. Determinants of Emergency Department Use by Ambulatory Patients at an Urban Public Hospital. Annals of Emergency Medicine 1995; 25:311-16
- 18. Boyce MC, Melhorn KJ, Vargo G. Pediatric Trauma Documentation- Adequacy for Assessment of Child Abuse. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1996;150:730-732
- 19. Limbos MP, Berkowitz CD. Documentation of Child Physical Abuse: How Far Have we Come? Pediatrics 1998;102:53-58
- 20. Baker SP, O'Neill B, Ginsburg MJ, Guohua Li. The Injury Fact Book (2nd edition) New York: Oxford University Press, 1992
- 21. Deane M. Child Accident Data: Accessible and Available? J Pub Health Med 1993; 15:226-228
- 22. CHA:NorthEast Community Health Centre Quick Facts Sep 1999
- 23. The Summary Report of the Public Consultation for the NorthEast Health Centre: What the People of the NorthEast told Capital Health. Feb 1997
- 24. Hospital Administration Software Solution documentation
- 25. HASS training manual
- 26. Adirim TA, Wright JL, Emmanuel L, Lomax TA, Chamberlain JM. Injury Surveillance in a Pediatric Emergency Department. Am J Emerg Med 1999;17:499-503
- 27. Houry D, Feldhaus KM, Nyquist SR, Abbott J, Pons PT. Emergency Department Documentation in Case of Intentional Assault. Annala Emerg Med;3(6):715-719
- 28. Weir C et al. Dimensions Associated with Successful Implementation of a Hospital Based Integrated Order Entry System. JAMIA 1994:654-657
- 29. Rotman et al. A Randomized Controlled Trial of a Computer-based Physician Workstation in an Outpatient Setting: Implementation Barriers to Outcome Evaluation JAMIA;1996;3:340-348
- 30. Lorenzi N M. Organizational Aspects of Health Informatics: Managing Technological Change, Springer Verlag, New York, 1995

- 31. Capital Health Authority (CHA, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada) : Population Health Planning. Recommendations for Action. October 1999
- 32. Capital Health Authority (CHA):NorthEast Community Health Centre HASS data
- 33. Kaplan B . Addressing Organizational Issues into the Evaluation of Medical Systems. JAMIA,1997;4(2):94-101
- 34. Southon C G et al. Information in Complex Health Services: Organizational Impediments to Successful Technology Transfer and Diffusion. JAMIA,1997;4(2):112-124
- 35. Alberta Centre for Injury Control and Research documentation
- Ball M.J., Collen M.F. Aspects of the Computer-Based Patient Record. Springer-Verlag, 1992
- 37. Tang C.P., LaRosa Michael P., Gorden Susan M. Use of Computer-Based Records, Completeness of Documentation, and Appropriateness of Documented Clinical Decisions. JAMIA, 1999;6:245-251
- 38. Koo D., Parrish RG. The Changing Health Care Information Infrastructure in the US: Opportunities for a New Approach to Public Health Surveillance, in Teutsch SM, Churchill RE, Principle and Practice of Public Health Surveillance, 2 nd ed, Oxford Univ. Press:NY,2000.
- 39. Yasnoff W, O'caroll PW, Koo D, et al. Public Health Informatics: Improving and Transforming Public Health in the Information Age. J Public Health Management and Practice, 2000; November: in press.
- 40. Centers for Disease Control: Guidelines for Evaluating Surveillance Systems., 1988. MMWR 1988; 37(S-5); 1-18
- 41. Thacker S B ,Gibson Parrish, Trowbridge Frederick & Surveillance Coordination Group. A Method for Evaluating Systems of Epidemiological Surveillance. World Health Stat. 1988; 41:11-18
- 42. Macarthur C et al. Reliability and Validity of Proxy Respondent Information about Childhood Injury: An assessment of a Canadian Surveillance System. Am J Epidemiol 1997;145:834-841
- 43. Hogan W et al. Accuracy of data in Computer-based Patient Records. JAMIA 1997; 4(5): 342-355
- 44. Hogan WR, Wagner MM. The Accuracy of Medication Data in an Outpatient Electronic Medical Record.. JAMIA 1996 3(3):234-244

- 45. CHA Community Care March 31, 1999 data
- 46. 1996 Federal Census data
- 47. Davenport T.H. Process Innovation: Reengineering Work through Information Technology. Harvard Business School Press, Boston, MA, 1993
- 48. Hammer M., Champy J. Reengineering the Corporation-a Manifesto for Business Revolution. Harper Business, New York, NY, 1993
- Markus M.L., Soh C. "Banking on Information Technology: Converting IT Spending into Firm Performance" in Perspective on the Strategic and Economic Value of Information Technology Investment, R.D. Banker, R.J. Kauffman, and M.A. Mahmood (eds), Idea Group Publishing, Middletown, PA, 1993, pp 364-392
- 50. Valenta A.L., Wigger Ulrike . Early Results of User Profiles: Physicians'Opinions on the Use of Information Technology. AMIA,1996:65-69
- 51. Kaplan Bonnie. Reducing barriers to Physician data Entry for Computer-based Patient Records. Top Health Inform Manage, 1995, 15(1):24-34
- 52. Silver M.S., Markus M.L., Beath C.M. The Information technology Interaction Model: A Foundation for the MBA Core Course. MIS Quarterly September, 1995:361-387
- 53. Orlikowski W.J. Improvising Organizational Transformation over Time: A Situated Change Perspective. Information System Research, volume 7, March 1996, pp 63-92
- 54. Orlikowski W.J. Evolving with Notes: Organizational Change around Groupware Technology. Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Sloan School of Management, working paper 3823, 1995

Appendix A NorthEast Community Health Center (NECHC)

The NECHC is an innovative practice setting that is guided by Primary Health Care as defined by the World Health Organization in 1978. Health professionals at the center base their practice on this primary health care approach and use strategies that promote integration of service focusing on the needs of clients.¹

A. Conceptual model

1. Primary Health Care (PHC)^{2,3}

PHC is focused on health in a broad sense and includes collaboration with different health sectors and use of appropriate technology among other objectives. Its mission emphasizes promoting health and well being, preventing and responding to injury, illness, and discomfort.

2. Integration of service

The center offers services that are available based on identified health needs. All center services function as a team to ensure the complement of professionals is working together. It also encourages use of an integrated clinical record that shares assessment and treatment information among health providers.

3. "Wholistic" approach

There is strong support for a prevention focus in health care. Three key areas for such an approach are: individual health, family health, and community health

B. Background – A community-driven process

The process to develop the center was started about 15 years ago by community residents. The provincial government considered the proposal in early 1980s but the plan was deferred until 1993. A survey conducted that year identified the need for 24-hour ER services. A closer study at the needs was done by an independent consultant and funded by CHA. After an intense community consultation process, summary of the findings was submitted. The NECHC started its service in September 1999.

C. General principles underlying the role of the center

- 1. A one-stop emergency location.
- 2. Gateway to other supports people need. Staff should be able to refer patients to where additional supports are required.
- 3. While waiting for emergency services, staff can make an appointment with specialists, educate people about health problem and follow up on their progress.
- 4. Outreach to where the needs are. For example schools, community locations, centers for newcomers etc

Reference

- 1. The Summary Report of the Public Consultation for the NECHC, February 1997.
- 2. Primary Health Care in Industrialized Countries. Report on a WHO meeting, 1985
- 3. Halfdan Mahler. The meaning of "health for all by the year 2000". World Health Forum 2(1): 5-22,1981.

Appendix B. Health Administration Software Solutions (HASS)

HASS is a computerized management tool designed to increase the operational efficiency within the emergency department. The system tracks patient attendance and location, and enables easy access to patient demographic, clinical and project data.¹

A. Introduction

I. Features

- 1. Full security system enabling multi-level user access control for windows, menu and reports.
- 2. Application designed to mimic the ER workflow patterns and hard copy registration format.
- 3. Site nominated mandatory coded data entry fields.
- 4. Rapid touch screen entry using touch screens.
- 5. Audit trail maintenance

II. Windows

- 1. Triage window captures the following information: presenting complaint, triage category, nurse assessment, vital signs. It also asks the question Injury (Y/N)?
- Clerical window collects information such as patient demographics, mode of arrival, health insurance, language spoken etc. It asks the question Injury (Y/N)?as well.
- 3. Clinical window is designed for real time entry of patient clinical data, primary and secondary diagnosis. It has a section for injury bodily location and diagnosis.
- 4. Admission window data collection involves patient name, date of birth, insurance and compensation status, admission date and time.
- 5. Transfer window enables the collection of patient transfer detail such as departure status, referral to location, departure date and time.
- 6. Injury surveillance window allows data collection as a result of injury or poisoning. If the Go To Injury Surveillance setting has been set by the System Administrator as a mandatory function via the triage and clerical windows, Injury surveillance window opens automatically when the record is updated.

B. Injury surveillance Window (Figure B.1)

Data entry fields:

- 1. Date and time of injury
- 2. Text description of injury event allows free text entry.
- 3. Injury cause refers to the event, circumstance or condition associated with the occurrence of injury, poisoning or violence.
- 4. Human intent designates any human intervention that may have a direct influence on the injury.
- 5. Type of place (first part) refers to the type of place where the patient is injured.
- 6. Type of place (second part) is for the specific type of place relates to the area within the Type of place (first part).
- 7. Part of place is associated with part of the Type of place (second part).
- 8. Activity lists the type of activity patient is involved in when the injury occurs.
- 9. Injury factor codes the types of objects and substances involved.
- 10. Mechanism of injury refers to the type of injury sustained, say, chemical effect.

< Thursday	3 SEP 199		18 >>	ED	Vieit Ho:	00188	Dei	ily Patient N	0: << 5	- »
Linked	Admit / I	Disch.	- Ale	rts ***					CASO	ard 6
MRN: 100003 D.O.E. 12 MA		st Name: N Age:		5 mths	25 days	- Firs	t Name: Sex:	MARGARET		
Date of Injury: 3		Time of I	injury: 07:"	15	injury (ause:)9	FALL		
ext Description of I					Humer	n intent: 🕻)1	ACCIDENT;	NURY NOT	NTEND
HEADACHE ONSE OF ABDOMENAL P	T OF CHEST F	PAIN. SUDE	DEN ONSET	الد ۱	Type o	1 Piece:)9	NDUSTRIAL	OR CONST	RUCTIO
SWIFT FOOT SNEA	KEPC COLE			ļ	-	·				
	mena aure (AY FRON	ĺ	Type o	f Place:	J9.2	DEMOLITION	ISHE	
SHOE OVERALLS	mens sole (ay fron			f Place: 0 f Place: 4	_	AREA BENE		DING OF
SHOE OVERALLS			AY FRON		Part o		13		ATH A BUIL	DING OI
SHOE OVERALLS	mens sole (-AIVIE AVV	AY FRON	٦	Pert o	f Place:	13)1	AREA BENE	ATH A BUIL	DING OF
SHOE OVERALLS		-MINE AVV	AY FRON	-	Pert o	f Piece: 4 ctivity: 0 Fector: 0	13 D1 D601	AREA BENE SPORTS AC	ATH A BUIL	DING OI
SHOE OVERALLS		Medication			Part o A injury	f Place: 4 ctivity: 10 Factor: 0 hanism: 7	13 01 0601 72	AREA BENE SPORTS AC BALL	ATH A BUIL	DING OF
SHOE OVERALLS	<u>ସ</u>				Part o Ai Injury Injury Meci Aedical Recor	f Place: 4 ctivity: 10 Factor: 0 hanism: 7	13 01 0601 72	AREA BENE SPORTS AC BALL SUN LIGHT	ATH A BUIL	DING OF

Figure B.1 ISC window

11. Brand name/product fault window is optional (Figure B.2) It can be set to open for instances related to child injury. There are two sections. Upper section lists the product by brand name that produces the injury. Lower section describes the product fault and how it causes the

	Brand Name / Broduct Foult Piesse supply the brand name of any product contributing to the injury. RUNFAST SNEAKERS	
Figure B.2 Brand name/product	Please describe any product fault contributing to the injury THE SOLE CAME AWAY FROM THE SHOE	
window		

12. Safety equipment window is also optional (Figure B.3). It is programmed to activate according to injury condition e.g. motor vehicle. The upper section shows a range of safety equipment, the lower section enables

the entry of additional Safety Equipement Selection equipment. es select the selety equipment worn at the time. HARD HAT **A** HELMET LIFEJACKET MOUTHGUARD PROTECTIVE EYEWARE **PROTECTIVE CLOTHING** SAFETY BELT Figure B.3 Safety equipment Other (Ples window QUICK DRIP SNEAKERS

96

Canc

13. The injury palette inside the Clinical window enables the recording of the nature of main injury (Figure B.4).

Clinical						
<< Thurday	3 889 1988 8	10 >>	GENERAL HO	PITAL		1 >>
Linked	Discharged	- Alerts			CASC	rd 8
MF94 100003	Lost Hune	•	First Name:	MARQARET	Age: 20 Year	
Tringed By: PDI, HARD	r a 31	1986 OR18	Triage Cat: 3	Lecellert CUEIC		
Doctor BIRCIANI, ALEX	Time Seen 14:07	Date Sean Dector		Investigations	Procedures	
Nurse JONES, VICH	Naree Time	Name Date Name 3 SEP 1990 Cade	R - GENER	AL SURGERY		Sterr Add
Primery Diagnosis CHEST PAIN	Primery Code					
Add. Disgrasse Ad	ME. Disgnosee	tylary Shew	ADMITTED	dian		Tent
DIELOCATION		Add	Departure Status			Free
[]			Referred to an D			Free
Chricel Commerte		Prescription Insued YES	J HOT REFERED			Test
Deley Research DED NOT AVALABLE	E	Pres Text	14:45 71	Delle NOV 1988		19 1999 1995
Record Complete YES	Coo To		Nie Path Albertah Paras	Presentat.		

Figure B.4 Clinical window

Upon clicking on the nature of the main injury, a second palette displays bodily location of injury (Figure B.5).

	ture of Main				
ABRASION	AMPUTATION	BURN	CONTUSION	DISLOCATION	FRACTURE
OREICH BODY	NFECTION	LACERATION	SPRAN		
	1 •			e e mar la	
	·				
	•	······································			
			•	•	

Figure B.5 Nature of main injury window

C. Injury surveillance codes²

The data set is based on the National Data Standards (NDS-IS) for public health injury surveillance by the Australian National Injury Surveillance Unit (ANISU). The NDS-IS is designed for a wide range of injury settings. It is also intended to set a standard for comparisons between data captured in different places. The underlying principles in developing the data set include:

- Usefulness for public health injury surveillance at different levels, depending on the purposes of surveillance
- Ease of data collection
- Compatibility with ICD codes

The NDS-IS is developed to provide three levels of injury data collection:

- 1. Level 1 is intended for basic, routine public health surveillance. It consists of five core injury items:
 - Description of injury event
 - External cause which is further divided into External Cause-major groups (30 items) and External Cause-intent groups (11 items)
 - Place of injury occurrence (13 items)
 - Activity when injured (9 items)
 - Principle diagnosis, injury or poisoning which is further divided into Nature of main injury (32 items) and Bodily location of main injury (22 items)

- 2. Level 2 is built on the first level with extended and additional data items. It is used primarily in ER setting within a hospital, and generally requires special resources. It consists of :
 - Description of injury event
 - External cause with full ICD 9 -CM or ICD-10 'External Cause' code
 - Place of injury sub type
 - Place of injury part
 - Principle diagnosis
 - Major injury factor
 - Mechanism of injury
 - Date of injury
 - Time of injury
- 3. Level 3 is planned for specialized surveillance or research (under development)

The ISC implementation at the NECHC adopted a modified level 2 classification.

D. Concordance with ICD codes³

The data items applied in NDS-IS are mapped to ICD. Following is an example of main external cause (Table b.1).

2 0 \$ 15		ICD-9-CM	ICD-10
1	Motor vehicle - driver	E810-E825/0	V40-V48/0,5 V49/0,4 V50-V58/0,5 V59/0,4 V60-V68/0,5 V69/0,4 V70-V78/0,5 V79/0,4
2	Motor vehicle - passenger or unspecified occupant	E810-E825/1	V40-V48/1-4,6,7,9 V49/1-3,5-9 V50- V58/1-4,6,7,9 V59/1- 3,5-9 V60-V68/1- 4,6,7,9 V69/1-3,5-9 V70-V78/1-4,6,7,9 V79/1-3,5-9
3	Motorcycle - driver		V20-V28/0,4 V29/0,4

Table B.1 Main external cause and ICD mappings

		I	V30-V38/0,5 V39/0,4
4	Motorcycle - passenger or unspecified whether driver or passenger	E810-E825/3	V20-V28/1-3,5,9 V29/1-3,5-9 V30- V38/1-4,6-9 V39/1-3,5-
5	Pedal cyclist or cycle passenger	E800-E807/3 E826-E829/1 E810-E825/6	V10-V19
6	Pedestrian	E800-E807/2 E810-E825/7 E826-E829/0	V01-V09
7	Other or unspecified transport related circumstances Includes railways, water transport, air transport Includes drowning associated with watercraft Excludes machinery accident in watercraft Horse related	E800-E807/0,1,8,9 E810-E829/4,8,9 E958/5,6 E968.5 E988/5,6 E830-E835 E837- E848	V81-V92 V94-V99 X82
8	 Includes fall from; trampled, kicked, or bitten by; etc. Excludes injuries to pedestrians or vehicle occupants resulting from collision with a horse [1- 6] 		See Note 1.
9	• Excludes fails in/on/from transport [5,6,8] and falls resulting in drowning [11,12]		See <u>Note 2</u> .
10	• Excludes fall in/on/from transport [5,6,8] and falls resulting in drowning [11,12]	See <u>Note 2</u> .	See <u>Note 2</u> .
	Drowning, submersion - in swimming pool	E910/5,6	W67-W68
12	 Includes drowning in unspecified place Excludes drowning associated with watercraft [7] 	E954 E964 E984	W65-W66 W69-W74 X71 X92 Y21
13	Other threat to breathing Includes inhalation of food, suffocation in		W75-W84 X70 X91 Y20

	enclosed space,		
1	strangulation, etc		
	Fire, flames, smoke		
14	 Includes asphyxiation or poisoning related to fires, explosion related to conflagration Excludes transport related 	E890-E899 E958.1 E968.0 E988.1 E990	X00-X09 X76 X97 Y26
	Exposure to hot drink, food,		
15	water, other fluid, steam, gas, or vapour Includes scalds	E924/0,2 E958.2 E968.3 E988.2	X10-X14
	Exposure to hot object or solid		
16	 substance Includes contact burns, etc Includes burn if unspecified whether due to solid, liquid or gas 	E924.8	X15-X19 X77 X98 Y27
	 Includes adverse effects of medication in normal 	E850-E858 E930.0-E950.5 E962.0 E980/0-5	X40-X44 X60-X64 X85 Y10-Y14 Y40-Y59
r	Poisoning - other substances		
18	 medication or other subst. Excludes invenomation by animal [22] or plant [28]. 	E860-E869 E950.6-E952.9 E962/1-9 E980/6-9 E972 E981 E982 E997.2	X45-X49 X65-X69 X86-X90 Y15-Y19 Y35.2
	 Excludes explosives [28] 	E922 E955/0-4 E965/0-4 E970 E985/0-4 E991/0-2	W32-W34 X72-X74 X93-X95 Y22-Y24 Y35.0
20	appliances [24]	E920/3,4,8,9 E956 E966 E974 E986	W25-W27 W45 X78 X99 Y28 Y35.4
21		See Note 1.	See Note 1.
22	dog[21]	See Note 1.	See Note 1.
24	 Machinery in operation Includes power tools, appliances Includes machinery in context of watercraft Excludes machinery in the context of other transport [1-7] 	E836 E919 E920/0-2	W24 W28-W31

	Electricity	E925 E958.4 E988.4	W85-W87
26	Hot conditions (natural origin), sunlight	E900.0	X30 X32
27	Cold conditions (natural origin)	E901.0 E958.3	X31
28	Other specified external cause (including late effects)	E870-E879 E900/1,9 E901/1,8,9 E902-E904 E905.7 E907-E909 E914-E915 E921 E923 E924/1,9 E926 E927 E928/0-8 E929 E955/5,9 E958/7,8 E959 E960.1 E961 E965/5-9 E967 E968/4,6-8 E969 E971 E975- E978 E985.5 E988/3 7 8 E989 E991/3 9	V93 W23 W35-W44 W49 W60 W64 W88- W99 X28 X33-X39
29	Unspecified external cause	E928.9 E958.9 E968.9 E988.9	X59 X84 Y09 Y34
30	ISTRUCK DV OF COULSION WITH BATSON	E017	W50-W52 Y04
31	in operation [24]; in constant (24];	E916 E918 E958.0 E968.2	W20-W22 X79 X81 Y00 Y02 Y29 Y31 Y35.3

Key:

E810-E829/4,8,9 means: 'all E-codes in the range E810-E829 where the 4th digit is 4, 8 or 9.' E910/0-7,9 means: 'E-codes E910.0 to E910.7 and E910.9.' E911-E913 means 'all valid 3 or 4 digit E-codes from E911.0 to E913.9.'

Note 1: ICD-9-CM and (to a lesser degree) ICD-10 do not enable good identification of 'horse related injuries' or 'dog related injuries'. When data collected according to Level 1, Item 2A are compared with aggregated ICD data, the three Item 2A 'Animal' categories [8], [21] & [22], should be combined. The resulting single 'Animal related' category is nearly equivalent to the following ICD codes, which should be used to define a comparison group:

ICD-9-CM: E810-E825/.5; E826-E829/.2,.3; E905/all but .7; E906. ICD-10: V80, W53-W59, X20-X27, X29

<u>Note 2</u>: ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 do not generally allow the height of a fall to be specified. When data collected according to Level 1, Item 2A are compared with aggregated ICD data, the two Item 2A 'Falls' categories [9] & [10] should be combined. The resulting single 'Falls' category is nearly equivalent to the following ICD codes, which should be used to define a comparison group:

ICD-9-CM:	E880-E888; E957, E968.1, and E987
ICD-10:	W00-W19, X80, Y01, Y30

Note 3: ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 provide many more categories for coding 'accidental' external causes than for other intent groups, and specific codes for non-accidental instances of the types of event covered by some Item 2A categories are not provided. The ICD codes shown in the Table A2.2A, include only 'accidental' instances of the type of event covered by some Item 2A categories (groups 1 to 7, 11, 16, 21, 22, 24, and 26). Provision of codes for non-accidental instances is also incomplete for some other groups. Accordingly, it is advisable to take account of both Item 2A and Item 2B when comparing data collected according to the NDS-IS Level 1 categories with aggregated ICD data.

Reference

- 1. HASS Emergency Department Module User Guide January, 1999 Version 8.1
- 2. http://www.nisu,flinders.edu.au
- NDS-IS Level 1, Item 2A: external cause major groups ICD-9-CM (1996, second edition, vol 1: 331-370) ICD-10 (1992, vol 1: 1026-1123)

Appendix C ISC Data Results¹

A. Nurse week (Table C.1)

There were a total of 197 "Y" injured cases recorded during nurse week. Triage nurses were able to capture ISC data from 98 cases. ISC data were validated through phone calls for 32 cases. Data completeness was 49.7%. Data correctness and presence of additional information were confirmed to be 100% for these 32 cases. Also, there were no missing data or delay entries for these 32 confirmed cases.

> % Breakdown of 98 cases throughout week showed:

Time	MON	TÜE	WED	THURS	FRI	SAT	SUN	MON	TOTAL	%
1-7 AM	0	1	0	1	4	3	0	1	10	10.2
8-12 AM	1	6	5	2	4	4	0	4	26	26.5
13-17PM	3	10	4	9	2	6	4	1	39	39.8
18-24PM	6	5	2	5	3	0	0	2	23	23.5
TOTAL	10	22	11	17	13	13	4	8	98	
%	10.2	22.4	11.2	17.3	13.3	13.3	4.1	8.2	 	

Table C.1 Patient case distribution during nursing week

> Human intent was characterized as the following with almost 94% accident.

Table C.2 Human intent percentage during nursing week

Accident; injury was not intended	93.9
Intentional self-harm	1 1
Maltreatment by spouse or partner	2
Other or unspecified assault	2
Other or unspecified intent	1
Total	100

> Other specified and unspecified activity accounted for about 30% of type of activity: Table C 3 Tupe of activity provide the interval $\frac{1}{2}$

Table C.3 Type of activity	/ percentage	during	nursing v	week
----------------------------	--------------	--------	-----------	------

11.2
19.4
14.3
20.4
4.1
1
17.3
12.2
100

(*) Could be grouped as "Other external causes" and it was 22% of external causes:
 Table C.4 External cause percentage during nursing week

Motor vehicle - driver	3.1
Fall - high (drop of 1 metre or more)	10.2
Exposure to hot fluid or gas	1
Exposure to hot object or solid substance(include contact burns)	1
Cutting, piercing	17.3
Dog related (incl. bitten, struck by)	1
Animal-related(excludes horse or dog)	1
Machinery	1
Unspecified external cause *	11.2
Struck by or collision with object or person *	6.1
Struck by or collision with person	6.1
Struck by or collision with object	14.3
Other or unspecified transported-related circumstances *	3.1
Other specified external cause *	2
Pedal cyclist or pedal cycle passenger	2
Fall - low (on same level, or <1 metre drop or no information on height)	19.4
Total	100

➤ There were 60% "others" of the 98 injury factors:

Table C.5 Injury factor percentage during nursing week

Waste container, rubbish basket, refuse bin	2
Other or unspecified appliance	2
Nail, screw, carpet tack, drawing pin, etc	2
Ladder, movable steps (incl. step stool)	2
Hand tool	6.1
Powertool	2
Welding equipment	1
other or unspecified tool	6.1
Other or unspecified chemical substance	2
Hot water	1
Water (excludes hot water [1321])	1
Other or unspecified factor	60.2
Knife	3.1
Drinking glass	2
Clothesline, clothes drying rack, clothes horse	1
Other or unspecified utensil or container	6.1
Total	100

➢ Fall was almost 36% of injury mechanism:

Table C.6 Injury mechanism percentage during nursing week

Fall by stumbling on same level	
	8.2
Fall by slipping, tripping on same level	13.3
Fall on or from stairs	8.2
Other or unspecified fall	6.1
Contact with moving object includes vehicle, grinding metal	9.2
Contact with static object includes sidewalk, wall, window	9.2
Contact with animal	1
Other or unspecified contact	9.2
Pinching, crushing	3.1

Bite/sting by animal/human/insect	1
Cutting, tearing	11.2
Puncture	7.1
Other specified crushing/piercing	2
Other specified mechanism of injury	5.1
Unspecified mechanism of injury	6.1
Total	100

> Almost half the cases happened at home:

Table C.7 Type of Place percentage during nursing week

Facility other than health settings (e.g. school, child care)	3.1
Home (including farm house)	46.9
Industrial or construction area	7.1
Recreational area (Place for informal recreational activity)	11.2
Residential institution (excluding hospital)	1
Sport or athletics area(place mainly for formal sports)	5.1
Street or highway(public road)	16.3
Trade or service area	8.2
Unspecified place	1
Total	100

> Parts of place were as follow:

Table C.8 Parts of Place percentage during nursing week

Bathroom	4.1
Bedroom	4.1
Hall/foyer	1
Kitchen	10.2
Laundry	1
Living/dining area	5.1
Family room/rumpus room	3.1
Auditorium/spectator area	1

Garage	3.1
Workshop	5.1
Specialized structure(e.g.: silo, tank, pylon)	1
Stairs	11.2
Area beneath a building or structure	1
Verandah or balcony	2
Roof	1
Roadway	18.4
Car park	5.1
Bicycle path/bike way	5.1
Playground	12.2
Garden	5.1
Total	100

B. Registration clerk (RC) week

There were a total of 172 injured cases recorded during RC week. HASS chief complaints entered by triage nurse were used as reference to determine the number of injured cases. Registration clerks were able to capture ISC data from 38 cases. Data completeness was 22.1%. According to RC, missing opportunities to collect data were due to overwhelming patient load. ISC data were validated through phone calls for 15 cases. Data correctness and presence of additional information were confirmed to be 100% for all 15 cases. There was no missing data and delay entry for these 15 confirmed cases.

Breakdown of 38 cases throughout week showed:

Time	TUE	WED	THURS	FRI	SAT	SUN	MON	TUE	TOTAL
1-7AM	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	<u> </u>
8-12AM	2	1	2	0	2	2	0	2	11
13-17PM	0	3	4	0	4	4	0	0	15
18-24PM	0	1	2	1	4	3	0	0	11
TOTAL	2	5	8	2	10	9	0	2	38

Table C.9 Patient case distribution during clerks week

> Human intents for all 38 cases were accidents

29% of type of activity were either categorized as "Other specified" or "Unspecified activity":

Table C.10 Type of activity percentage during clerks week

Sports activity	8
Leisure activity	6
Working for income(includes travel to/from work)	5
other type of work (includes unpaid housework)	5
Resting, sleeping, eating, other personal activity	2
Being nursed or cared for	1
Other specified activity	4
Unspecified activity	7
Total	38

(*) Could be grouped as "Other external causes" and it accounted for almost 32%:
 Table C.11 External cause percentage during clerks week

Fall - high (drop of 1 metre or more)	2
Firearm	1
Cutting, piercing	5
Dog related (incl. bitten, struck by)	1
Machinery	2
Unspecified external cause*	3
Struck by or collision with object or person*	5
Struck by or collision with person	1
Struck by or collision with object	4
Other or unspecified transported-related circumstances*	2
Pedal cyclist or pedal cycle passenger	1
Fall - low (on same level, or <1 metre drop or no information on height)	9
Unspecified external cause*	2
Total	38

➢ 65% of Injury factors were "Other or unspecified factor":

Table C.12 Injury factor percentage during clerks week

1
2
1
1
1
4
25
1
1
1
38

> 34% of Injury mechanism were due different types of "Fall":

Table C.13 Injury Mechanism percentage during clerks week

Fall by stumbling on same level	7
Fall by slipping, tripping on same level	4
Fall on or from stairs	1
Other or unspecified fall	1
Contact with moving object includes vehicle, grinding metal	2
Contact with static object includes sidewalk, wall, window	3
Contact with animal	
Other or unspecified contact	4
Pinching, crushing	2
Cutting, tearing	4
Puncture	2
Unspecified acute over-exertion of body/part of body	
Other specified mechanism of injury	6
Total	38

> Almost half the cases happened at home:

Table C.14 Type of Place percentage during clerks week

Home (including farm house)	18
Residential institution (excl. hospital)	1
Facility other than health settings (e.g. school, child care)	1
Recreational area (Place for informal recreational activity)	5
Sport or athletics area(place mainly for formal sports)	3
Street or highway(public road)	6
Industria! or construction area	
Unspecified place	3
Total	38
	50

> Parts of place were as follow:

Table C.15 Part of Place percentage during clerks week

n an a' an an Albert (1997) an an an Albert (1997) an an Albert (1997). An an Albert (1997) an Alb	
Bedroom	3
Kitchen	3
Living/dining area	1
Family room/rumpus room	3
Office	1
Specialized structure (e.g. silo, tank, pylon)	1
Court (tennis, squash etc)	2
Stairs	1
Roadway	7
Car park	1
Bicycle path/bike way	3
Playground	5
Garden	7
Total	38

c. Physician week

There were 154 "Y" injured cases during the physician week and no ISC data were collected

REFERNCES

1. Capital Health Authority (CHA) Information System

Appendix D Softwares: DtSearch and NuDist

A. Dtsearch¹

I Introduction

dtSearch Corp. started text retrieval research and development in1988. It began marketing the dtSearch line of text retrieval products in 1991. The product line has the ability to instantly search gigabytes of text. Organizations with intense document search needs such as Fortune 500 companies and intelligence, space and law enforcement government agencies have deployed the dtSearch. Numerous commercial applications embedded with dtSearch products include SAP AG, ScanSoft, Seagate Software, Computer Sciences Corp., General Dynamics Information Services, Physician's Desk Reference etc

II. Technical description (Figure D.1)

Central to DtSearch 's powerful search capability is its indexing and searching algorithms that allow for fast indexing and searching performance even over extremely large databases and other diverse collections of documents. The algorithms are engineered to maintain consistent indexing speeds regardless of the size of the document set. The dtSearch product line was developed to make efficient use of system resources under the Windows platform.

Armed with over two dozen text search options, the product offers unparalleled intelligent searching. In addition to basic search options such as boolean (and/or/not), proximity, phonic etc, the dtSearch product line has the following special search capabilities:

- fuzzy searching. This enables the finding of terms even if they are misspelled. Search fuzziness level goes from 0 to 10 corresponding to the level of typographical or OCR errors in files. For example, a fuzziness level of 1 with a search for "alphabet" would find "alphaqet." With a fuzziness level of 3, a search for "alphabet" would find not only "alphaqet" but also "alpkaqet."
- concept/synonym/thesaurus searching. dtSearch can perform automatic query with variable levels of expansion (user-defined synonyms, built-in synonyms, or built-in synonyms + related words).
- natural language searching. Natural language searches, also known as query-by-example, look for all words in a search request and return results based on automatic term weighting. Using the "Vector Space" method, dtSearch's relevancy ranking takes into account the frequency of hits, relative frequency of the search terms in the index, and hit density in retrieved documents.
- field searching. dtSearch automatically recognizes and indexes fielded data in such file formats as MS Word, Excel etc, making these fields

separately searchable by field name (as well as accessible for full-text searching). Using 32-bit ODBC (Open Data Base Connectivity), dtSearch can also index and display records in Access, Paradox, FoxPro, and dBase databases. Each record is treated as a separate document.

• variable term weighting. dtSearch provides also the ability to specify relative weights. These weights can be positive or negative. For example, a user might assign a positive weight of 3 to the word "green" and a negative weight of five to the word "orange."

Figure D.1 dtSearch search window

erian h	
Search request More search options Search had	
[noise] other [noise] our [noise] our [noise] over [noise] same [noise] same	Indexce to enach Courcellast 2
[noise] she	- 김희
Search requests	not C W/5
Search request: Search factures P distance P Darie coarch P Darie coarch P Darie coarch P Darie coarch P Curry coarch P Wordia track P Wordia track	rrot wi/5 w/25 (renrges fields)

B. NUDIST (Non-numerical Unstructured Data Indexing Searching and Theorizing)²

I Introduction

NUDIST is developed by QSR (Qualitative Solutions and Research), a software company in Melbourne, Australia. It is a computer package designed in handling Non-numbericl and unstructured Data in qualitative analysis, by supporting processes of coding data in an Index System, Searching text or searching patterns of coding and Theorizing about the data.

II. Technical description (Figure D.2)

• NUDIST manages data documents such as text (reports, minutes, interviews etc) and non-textual records (musical scores, photos etc)

- The product creates an environment in which user can create, manage and explore ideas and categories to minimize clerical routine and maximize flexibility, and to discover new ideas and build on them.
- QSR NUDIST is designed for asking questions, building, and testing theories. It allows user to:
 - > search for patterns in coding and building new codes
 - > clarify ideas, discover themes
 - > construct and test theories
 - > display matrices and build models
- A NUDIST project is organized in 2 interlocking subsystems, linked by search procedures:
 - Document system that contains information about every document, either imported or external.
 - Index system is made up of nodes which are containers for user's thinking about the project. Nodes store the index categories constructed by the user.

Figure D.2 Document system and Index system

Node Explorer	
Free Nodes (4)	Node
Text Searches [1] Index Searches [2]	Root of your Index Tree
Document Annotations Node Clipboard	Coding Status:
	Definition:
	Right click to create more nodes.
Make.Report	Browse Explore
Document Explorer	
Trialdoc Doci	iment
Hee Sele	for: ct.importor.AddjExternalfrom:the
docu	ments menu to add more documents to project
Make Report	Browner Properties Close

References

- 1. http://www.dtsearch.com
- 2. QSR NUDIST User Guide

Appendix E Interview Scripts for Patients and NECHC Staff

A. Interview scripts for staff

I. Planning phase and early part of deployment phase

Interviews involved HASS developers, ED project team members, public health staff, and project champions. The script covered specific issues related to:

a. ISC implementation workplan

Conversation expanded and pursued information on injury surveillance objectives, data collection and dissemination. Participants gave their thoughts on whom they considered as ideal candidate(s) to collect data and reason(s) behind their thinking.

b. Organizational context

The intention was to capture the perspectives on what features of the community health center were salient to the project, what did staff know about injury surveillance.

c. User acceptance

The purpose was to find out what participants had in mind on data collection /charting, compliance, and data quality.

d. Staff's strength and belief

Questions were posed to elicit responses on relevance between injury surveillance and direct patient care in ED setting, whether caregiver would perceive ISC as a measure more on prevention or health promotion than immediate patient care.

e. Expectation on technological capabilities

The conversation was to solicit viewpoints on how comprehensive an injury data set would be, understanding of ISC features and its capabilities to handle ever-growing information needs, role of technical support and system revisions.

II. Deployment phase

NECHC staff were interviewed during ISC training sessions. The script included topics such as training session, technological understanding, current work practice and cognitive frames when facing new technology, impact of ISC, and HASS experience:

a. Overall impression of training session.

NECHC weighted the relatively short ISC training session in terms of usefulness and practicality.

b. Technological assessment of the ISC components.

The center's staff got the opportunities to assess ISC user interface, navigation to and from ISC window, data items pick-list ease of use etc

c. Current NECHC data collection practice and staff's preference.

The center was using two parallel systems in data collection: HASS and paper forms. The discussion explored how staff practiced data collection, what were their preferred data capturing format, and what impact they perceived in terms of computer technology.

d. Workflow and the impact of ISC introduction

The ISC deployment was an addition to NECHC staff's existing routine. Subjects discussed included what impact would it cause in terms of work practice, and how caregiver would fit ISC into their work flow.

e. Relevance between injury surveillance and direct patient care in ED setting

Was injury surveillance relevant to direct patient care or was it more on prevention and how would that affect community injury control and prevention?

f. NECHC staff's HASS experience.

The center implemented HASS earlier during its grand opening and the system had gone through some update and revision. The discussion geared toward staff's familiarity with the system, how they learned to use HASS. For example what resource(s) they found to be useful: computer manual, supervisor, or peers.

B. Interview script for patients

The script was a printed form with ISC-related questions. Patient consent form with NECHC patient identifier sticker was attached with the script. When Hue Quan called the patient at home, he or she was asked to confirm his or her identity, understanding of the study, and the consent to the interview. The interview included the following questions that were based on ISC data entry:

- What went wrong?. This was similar to the ISC free-text description that allowed the patient to briefly describe what happened.
- Where and when did the injury happen? The question helped to provide the date and time of injury and the type of place at which the patient was situated.
- What was the cause of injury? Answer from patient identified event associated with the occurrence of injury e.g. fall.

- Where did it hurt? This question located the anatomical part of the injury e.g. left wrist.
- What were you doing when it happened? The question intended to ask patient the type of activity being undertaken when injured and whether the injury was related to work, sport etc.
- Was it related to some sort of consumer product? Any safety device? The purpose was to identify types of objects and substances involved in the occurrence of injury and whether patient was using certain safety devices e.g. helmet

Appendix F HEALTH RESEARCH ETHICS BOARD REQUEST FOR ETHICS REVIEW

A. Introduction

The Health Research Ethics Board (HREB) is a joint committee of the University of Alberta Health Sciences Faculties (UAHSF), the Capital Health Authority (CHA), and the Caritas Health group (CHG). The board is

- charged with the administration of the collaborative ethics review process on behalf of the UAHSF, the CHA, and the CHG
- designed to expedite and improve the ethics review process for all students and faculty of the UAHSF, and all CHA and CHG staff.

There are two Health Research Ethics Boards (HREB A and HREB B). Both boards have representation from the Health Sciences Faculties, the CHA, and the CHG. Both boards use guidelines formulated by the Medical Research Council and other agencies for making decisions. The two HREBs focus on different types of research ¹.

The ISC project falls within HREB B which addresses non-invasive intervention and measures including:

- interviews, surveys, questionnaires
- educational strategies
- psychological, social or behavioural interventions
- observation or descriptive research
- non-invasive physiological measures e.g. heart rate
- audio and/or video recording or other monitoring.

B. Changes made during deployment phase

The ethics request was presented to the HREB B during ISC planning phase. At the time of ISC deployment, there were some changes:

- The project objective was to implement and assess an ED injury surveillance system at a local community health center. The research approach was qualitative in nature, using data collected primarily through semi-structured interviews supplemented by descriptive statistics on patient cases instead of inferential statistics to generalize data collected from representative sample. As a result, the sample size planning was not executed and the data collection trial was conducted with 3 groups of NECHC staff in 3 consecutive weeks.
- Due to resource limitation, NECHC management recruited grad student Hue Quan to perform patient phone interviews and validate ISC patient case data. Also, ISC inservice and staff interview took place at the same time during training sessions instead of having pre and post deployment interviews separated from in-service.

C. Ethics request

HREB A ____

HREB B <u>X</u> HEALTH RESEARCH ETHICS BOARD REQUEST FOR ETHICS REVIEW

******NOTE: This form has been designed to be used by researchers in a wide variety of fields. Some questions may not be pertinent for this particular project. It is extremely important to read the information and follow the instructions found in the Guidelines for Researchers. Please refer to the guidelines for all the submission information.

Section A: General information.

A1. Title of Project: Implementation of an Injury Surveillance System at a Local Community Health Center Emergency Room

 A2.Name of Principal Investigator: Name: Dr. Louis H. Francescutti Title(s): B.Sc.(Hnrs), MD, PhD, MPH Department / Program: Medicine/ Epidemiology & Emergency Medicine Mailing address for ethics information: Department of Public Health Sciences Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry 13-103 Clinical Sciences Building

Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6G-2G3

Telephone: (780) 492-6546 Fax: (780) 492-0364 Email:Louis.francescutti@ualberta.ca

Signature: _____ Date:

 A3. Name of Co-Investigator: (Required for Students, Residents, Visiting Scholars, etc.) Name: Kien Hue Quan Title(s):BCom Department/Program: Public Health Sciences/M.Sc. Epidemiology Mailing address for ethics information: Department of Public Health Sciences Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry 13-109 Clinical Sciences Building Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6G-2G3 Telephone: (780) 450-7798 Fax: (780) 450-7640 E-Mail: hquan@cha.ab.ca

Signature: _____ Date:

A4. Authorizing Signatures: (For U of A staff, must be signed by Department Chair or Associate Dean, Research. For CHA or Caritas staff, must be signed by administrative supervisor of Principal Investigator.)

I support the implementation of this project.

(Signature)

(Date)

(Name: Please print)

(Title)

A5. Co-Investigator(s) / Thesis Committee:

Name	Department / Program	Telephone
1.		
2.		
3.		
4.		
5.		

A6. Expedited review:

If the study procedures are **limited** to any of the following, please check the appropriate box. (See guidelines page 7)

- ____examination of patient or medical or institutional records
- _____ secondary analysis of data
- _____ use of biological specimens normally discarded
- ____ collection of blood and urine specimens
- ____ modification of previously approved protocol

*specify title and approval date:

A7. Which one of the following best describes the type of investigation proposed? Check more than one if appropriate.

____ clinical trial

____ multi-centre trial

<u>X</u> pilot study

____ drug study

_X_technology assessment / development

____qualitative study

____ epidemiological study

_____ sequel to previously approved project

____ first application in humans

____ other (specify):

A8. Where will the research be conducted? (Note that administrative approval is required to carry out research in any Capital Health or Caritas facility):

X_Capital Health Site (specify): NorthEast Community Health Center

____ Caritas Site (specify):

____ U of A Site (specify):

____ Other (specify):

Funding/Budget

A9. How is the proposal funded?

____ funding approved (specify source):

_____ funding request pending (specify source):

<u>X</u>no external funding required

- A10. Are any of the investigators involved in this study receiving any direct personal remuneration or other personal or family financial benefits (either direct or indirect) for taking part in this investigations? (See guidelines, page 7)
 - ____yes If yes, append a letter detailing these activities to the Chair of the appropriate review committee. X no

Attach a budget summary. Note that the summary must include details of investigator payments and recruitment incentives (if present).

Additional Documentation

A11. If any of the following applies to this study, attach the appropriate letters of approval/support. (See Guidelines page 8)

Health Protection Branch or other Canadian federal agency approval:

- <u>X</u>_Not applicable
- ____ Attached
- ____ Pending

Radiation Safety Committee Approval (required for all studies involving radioisotopes and non-routine X-rays):

- <u>X</u>_Not applicable
- Attached
- ____ Pending

Electromechanical or Biohazardous Materials Safety Approval:

- \underline{X} Not applicable
- ____ Attached
- ____ Pending

Section B: Details of Project

{Note that spaces have been minimized in this electronic version of the form. Use "cut and paste" to add information. Do NOT indicate that the board should "see attached".} Description of the Project

B1. Provide a clear statement of purpose and objectives of the project.

This is a descriptive study on the design, implementation and effects of an emergency room injury surveillance system at a local community health center.

B2. State hypotheses and / or research questions.

The research question is to determine if the theory of improvisation can be used to explain the design, implementation and effects of this system.

B3. Briefly summarize past human and/or animal research which has led to this project.

(1 page maximum, 12 point font)

Surveillance is defined as the systematic collection, analysis, interpretation, dissemination, and application of health data to a public health problem. It is considered as an important step in injury prevention and control. Injury data can be used to quantify the magnitude of problem, identify populations at risk, prioritize and evaluate injury control programs. Public health surveillance should have the capacity to address these tasks: ongoing data collection; timely data dissemination; and data linkage to prevention and control activities.

Although the number of surveillance and health information systems has increased in recent years, public health surveillance is fragmented. Hospital emergency room data represent an important but underused source of information for injury-surveillance effort. According to some estimates, for every childhood injury death there are 45 hospitalizations and 1300 emergency room (ER) visits. Public health professionals expect to collect and analyze this ER visits population data to develop and evaluate strategies for injury control and prevention.



Routine data on injuries derived from mortality statistics do not provide morbidity information. Trauma registries focus primarily on injuries on a severity scale. This incomplete and nonrepresentative injury data do not describe accurately the scope of injury. Canada has a national database CHIRPP (Canadian Hospitals Injury Reporting and Prevention Program) but it is at a national level and does not identify specific local injury problems. Alberta 's ACCS (ambulatory care classification system) is used throughout the province's emergency room. Its main purpose is to predict resource needs and cost management. Injury problems and trends vary between communities, and specific information is needed to prioritize control programs and assess the effectiveness of control measures. ER injury surveillance system (ISS) is widely advocated as a prerequisite for injury prevention strategy. ISS is more than enumeration of events. It ensures dissemination and communication of surveillance results to others and facilitates its consequent use for public health actions. The target audience for the NorthEast Community Health Center (NECHC) ISS encompasses public health practitioners, Capital Health Authority ER management, professional organizations e.g. Alberta Center for Injury Control and Research (ACICR). The collected data will be fed back to the local community and help to develop and evaluate strategies for local injury control and prevention. The ISS implementation of this project, thus, is the initial step in the development of an effective public policy for injury control and prevention.

Description of Sample/Population.

B4. Describe the numbers and type(s) of subjects to be included. If appropriate, specify number of subjects in each study group. Provide a rationale for the sample size and include sample size calculations where appropriate.

The research approach is to recognize the different types of change or major events as they occur in the system implementation process and to respond effectively to them. Subjects are physicians, nurses, research personnel, registration clerks and management at NECHC. It involves utilization of qualitative data collected from observations, meetings, interviews, training sessions and documents. The project includes a trial that will help to identify an effective pattern of injuryrelated data collection. The process specifies the sample size of patients that visit the emergency room. Sample size calculation is based on estimates drawn from chart auditing. Patient charts from January 2000 to March 2000 are reviewed to determine relevancy of injury-related recordings by caregivers. The results show that nurses enter injury-related items with a mean of 24.16, standard deviation of 10.62 and confidence interval of 2.80. For the physicians, the results are mean 35.38, standard deviation 12.75, and confidence interval 3.37. Using confidence level of 95%, the trial needs at least 90 patients for descriptive study. Staffs who are involved in the data collection trial are divided into 3 groups: physician group (5 physicians), nursing group (8 nurses), and clerical group (3 registration clerks). Each group collects a week's injury-related data (estimated to be about 100 patients). The trial is done in three consecutive weeks for three groups. Descriptive statistical procedures include measures of central tendency, variability, frequency distribution table and graph to assess data quality that covers data completeness, correctness, timeliness, and comprehensiveness.

B5. List any subject inclusion/exclusion criteria.

The computer data collection trial includes patients who present at the NECHC with injuries as chief complaints.

B6. Will subjects be recruited who are -
Under 18 years of age[] yes[X] noCognitively impaired[] yes[X] noResiding in institutions (e.g. prison,[] yes[X] no

extended care facility)		
Students Employees of researcher(s)' organization In emergency or life-threatening situations	[] yes [] yes [] yes	[X] no [X] no
Have language barriers (eg. illiterate, not English-speaking, dysphasic)	[] yes	[X] no [X] no
In another country	[] yes	[X] no

Description of Research Procedures

B7. Provide a summary of the design and procedures of the research. Include details of any specific manipulations/interventions and measures: quantity, type and route of administration of drugs or radiation; operations; tests; use of devices that are prototypic or altered from those in clinical use; time commitment for subjects; method of data analysis. (Maximum 2 pages using 12 point font. Append questionnaires, interview protocols, if applicable.)

A. Project Objective and Research Question

This is a descriptive study on the design, implementation and effects of an ER injury surveillance system at a local community health center. The question is to determine if the theory of improvisation can be used to explain the design, implementation and effects of this system.

B. Design

I. Research location: The NECHC provides emergency services among other services such as Laboratory, Family Health, Mental Health etc. Emergency service is available on a 24-hours. 7 days per week basis.

II. Current Data Processing Pattern in the Emergency Room at NECHC

A patient presenting to the ER is triaged by a nurse and chief complaint is recorded directly into HASS system. Chief complaint is a mandatory field. Unless the patient needs immediate care, he or she proceeds to the registration clerk where demographics and additional information are obtained. The registration desk, then, prints out a patient registration form (PRF). Once the patient is inside a treatment room, physician or nurse charts physical examination and detailed assessment either into HASS or PRF. HASS system is complemented with hand-written notes, progress notes, and forms that reside in the patient binder.

III. Length of Time: The study is conducted over a period of nine months. It begins mid November 1999 with the development of an injury data set. The ISS is implemented after a series of bench testing of its functionalities. Hue Quan, thesis student, provides NECHC staff with ISS in-service and hands-on training. A data collection trial is employed to determine an effective data collection pattern.

IV. Technology: Capital Health Authority (CHA) has implemented a new emergency room computer system at NECHC. The system called Hospital Administration Software Solutions (HASS) is developed in Australia. It is a comprehensive patient tracking system with the capacity to capture wide range of data such as triage, clinical, patient information etc. ISS is a component within HASS that has not been used.

V. Subjects: The data set development comprises RAH trauma service coordinator, ACICR data manager, NECHC ER team leader, Dr. L.Francescutti, Public health researcher, ER project team and thesis student Hue Quan. The improvisation section of the study involves NECHC physicians, nurses, research personnel, registration clerks and management. During the data collection trial, 5 physicians, 8 nurses, and 3 registration clerks receive ISS computer training and participate in the study groups. The ISS implementation, its interaction with clinical, nursing and support staff and improvisational changes are the focus of the study.

VI. Method:

1. Theory of improvisation

Employing the improvisational model requires a process to recognize the different types of change or major events as they occur and to respond effectively to them. Two sets of enabling conditions are essential: aligning key dimensions of the change process and dedicating resources to provide
ongoing support for the change process. The key dimensions are the technology, the organizational context, and the change model. Ongoing support involves adapting both the organization and the technology to changing organizational conditions, use practices, and technological capability. The research approach is utilization of qualitative data collected from observations, meetings, interviews, training sessions and documents.

- Meetings and interviews are conducted with HASS developer, ER project team members, champions, and NECHC staff on organizational context, user expectation, and technological capabilities. Interviews will be performed in two stages: pre-implementation (see attached interview form A) and post-implementation (see attached interview form B).
- Observations on user practices are done at NECHC ER
- During training sessions, issues related to technology understanding, individuals' cognitive frames when facing new technology are raised.
- Documents include meeting notes, correspondence, NECHC initial ER data, RAH ER data, and training materials.

2. Data collection trial

Staffs who are involved in the data collection trial are divided into 3 groups: 5 physicians (PG), 8 nurses (NG), and 3 admission clerks (AG). Each group collects a week's injury-related data (estimated to be about 100 patients). The trial is done in three consecutive weeks for three groups. Descriptive statistical procedures include measures of central tendency, variability, frequency distribution table and graph. The project includes all patients who present to the ER with injuries as chief complaints

a. Standard Reference

HASS chief complaint is a mandatory data entry. Hence it can be used as standard reference for determining the number of injury-related ER visits i.e. data completeness.

b. Data Completeness (Table F.1)

	Standard positive	Standard negative	Total
ISS positive	a	b	a + b
ISS negative	с	d	c + d
Total	a + c	b + d	a+b+c+d

Table F.1 Data completeness and correctness

Completeness is the proportion of all injury events of interest that are recorded by ISS and is calculated as a/(a + c).

c. Data Correctness (Table F.1)

Correctness is the proportion of observations that truly have the injury events of interest and is calculated as a/(a + b). The injury-surveillance population of interest is (a + c) which is presumably eligible for capture by ISS. The total ER patient visits which include injury-related and non-injury related sets of patients is (a + b + c + d). Patients will be phoned next day to obtain relevant injury data. Correctness is determined by measuring the agreement between respondent information and that provided by the ISS.

d. Comprehensiveness

The ISS brief description is a free text entry field. It gives staff the opportunity to supplement the ISS coded data. It would appear logical to search this data item for confirmation and expansion of coded data items. One point is awarded for confirmation and two points for expansion

e. Missing Data

Charting practice that leaves data entry fields blank introduces ambiguity because it may be interpreted either as patient not responding or ER staff forgetting to collect information. Missing data is calculated as a proportion of total injury data items (c/a + c) (fig. 1).

f. Timeliness

There are circumstances in which patient condition is considered urgent. ER staffs are encouraged to do real-time data entry but also have the option to put comment suggesting data collection deferral in this situation. One point is awarded if there is no deferral of data entry comment. The study uses the following criteria to compare the three mentioned ISS data collection patterns:

- Data completeness
- Data correctness
- Comprehensiveness
- Missing data
- Timeliness

B8. Which treatments or procedures are additional to those required for standard patient care? Investigators of this study will not interfere with any medical treatment or intervention at the emergency room of the NECHC.

The investigators of this study will not intervene in standard patient care during the patient's emergency room visit.

B9. If the procedures include a blind, under what conditions will the code be broken and what provisions have been made for this? Who will have the code?

Not applicable

Obtaining Consent

B10. Clearly detail who will be recruiting subjects and obtaining consent, and the procedures for doing this. If appropriate, specify whether subjects will be randomly assigned to groups before or after consent has been attained.

The purpose of this research project is to examine computer system implementation, use and consequences of an injury surveillance system (ISS) on work pattern in an emergency room (ER) setting. It also studies how well a computer system can collect injury data. Study subjects include NECHC staff, HASS developers and patients. NECHC staffs consist of physicians, nurses, registration clerks, ER project team members, and project champions. The project collects both quantitative and qualitative data. Qualitative data are primarily collected from meetings, observations, training sessions, data entry and face-to-face interviews with NECHC staff. During the first meeting, NECHC staffs are informed of the research study, their right and ability to withdraw from the study at any time without consequence. They are provided with information sheets and consent forms. When staffs decide to participate in the project, meetings and face-toface interviews will be scheduled for them.

Once the injury surveillance system (ISS) is implemented, NECHC staff input injury data directly into the ISS. To ensure data validity during the study, NECHC physicians, nurses or registration clerk will obtain consent from patients for follow-up telephone interview the next day. A NECHC registration clerk will be interviewing the patient. During the interview, each ISS data entry item is repeated in sequence:

- What went wrong?
- What caused the injury?
- Where and when did it happen?
- Where did it hurt?
- What was the context of injury?
- If a specific product or article was involved, please give details.
- What safety precautions/devices were in use?

The interview is used to quantify the level of agreement between the ISS recorded information and that obtained from the respondent. Combined efforts are practised to ensure NECHC staffs seek permission of patients to call them the following day. During training sessions, patient's willingness or refusal to participate is highlighted. This will also be reinforced by NECHC management through communication in forms of shift reports, ER log, reminders, and to-do-lists.

B11. Attach a copy of consent form(s), information sheets and all recruitment notices, letters or advertisements. (See Appendix A of Guidelines. Use of standard Consent is highly recommended.)

The documents are attached.

B12. Specify methods for dealing with groups identified in #B6. If the subjects are not

able/competent to give fully informed consent, who will consent on their behalf? The study involves assessing the validity of information collected by the injury surveillance system. The assessment is done through telephone interview with patients the next day after their emergency room visits. Patients may belong to the following subjects:

- Under 18 years of age
- Cognitively impaired
- In emergency or life-threatening situation
- Have language barriers

The study only recruits these patients if they are accompanied by parents, guardians or relatives and the latter will be given the opportunity to read the information sheet and complete the consent form. Proxy respondent information provided by parents, guardians or relatives are considered for telephone interview in these situations.

B13. What is the reading level of the Information Letter?

What is the reading level of the Consent Form?

(For most populations, the target level is Grade 8. See Appendix A of Guidelines for information on calculating reading level. The Standard Consent Template is Grade 7.) What steps have been taken to make the consent form and subject information documents comprehensible to the person giving consent? (Please include a statement on how the reading level was determined, i.e.: level was determined using Word Perfect 6.0)

The reading level of the Information Letter is Grade 7

The reading level of the Consent Form is Grade 8.

Microsoft Word Spelling and Grammar was used to determine the reading levels

B14. If subjects will be offered compensation for participating in the research, provide details.

Specify the amount, what the compensation is for, and how payment will be determined for subjects who do not complete the study.

No compensation will be provided for participants in this study.

B15. Do any of the procedures include the use of deception or partial disclosure of information to subjects?

[] yes Provide rationale for deception or partial disclosure. Describe the procedures for (a) debriefing the subjects and (b) giving them a second opportunity to consent to participate after debriefing.

[X] no

Risks and Benefits

B16. What are the benefits of the proposed research for the subject and / or for scientific knowledge in general?

Injury is the leading cause of death for people under the age of 44 and causes more potential years of life lost than any other disease process. In Alberta, there were 1,358 deaths, 31,471 hospitalisations and 42,774 potential years of life lost due to injury. Injury surveillance data is used to

- estimate the magnitude of injury problem
- determine the etiology of injury
- evaluate injury control strategies.
- Facilitate planning and co-ordination of injury control efforts.

Among its health issues priorities Edmonton Capital Health board has set a mandate for injury control and prevention. It recommends improved data collection and surveillance as part of a combination of strategies. Several population-based studies indicate that 78% to 87% of all medically attended injuries are treated in the emergency rooms (ER). However, few reports of ER injury surveillance systems have been published. The implementation of computerized injury surveillance system at the NECHC emergency room is the first of its kind in Canada. The ISS will provide data that is accurate, timely, and readily accessible to plan, implement, evaluate, and sustain injury control processes. Injury problems and trends vary between communities, and specific information is needed to prioritize control programs and assess the effectiveness of control measures. The NECHC ISS will have tremendous impact on the local community's injury control and prevention programs.

B17. What adverse effects may result from the research? (Include risks, discomfort, incapacity, psychological risks, and any reported side effects of procedure or drug.) How will adverse effects be dealt with?

Patient may have physical, mental, or emotional concerns during the follow-up phone call the next day. This will be addressed during training sessions. ER nurses will tend to these delicate circumstances, converse with the patient and handle the situation in a professional way. Physician

will be consulted, if necessary, as part of a team approach. The NECHC management will emphasise this guideline through communication during the data collection trial.

Privacy and Confidentiality

B18. What steps will be taken to respect privacy of subjects and protect confidential data? The standard health guidelines of privacy and confidentiality will be observed in this study. All information provided by the patients will be handled in a confidential and secure manner aligned with CHA patient information policies. NECHC computer accesses use password security. Staffs are only authorised to access relevant information within their legitimate responsibility. Data collected during survey and interview will be kept in a secure place (on disc and in paper form) accessible only by the research team and no identity will be revealed.

B19. Identify any agencies or individuals who will have access to confidential data now or in the future.

Capital Health Authority (CHA), Alberta Center for Injury Control and Research, Public Health Research, and CHA Trauma Services will be using the data in the future. The data are disseminated in an aggregate format such as no patient name will be identified.

B20. Do you anticipate secondary analysis of these data? (Note that secondary analysis requires further research ethics approval.)

Yes X No



Appendix B (For patients)

Title of Project: Implementation of an Injury Surveillance System at a Local Community Health Center Emergency Room

Principal Investigator(s):

Dr. Louis H. Francescutti, MD, PhD, MPH Assistant Professor, Department of Public Health Sciences & Division of Emergency Medicine, University of Alberta Phone (780)-492-6546 Chair to the Advisory Board of the Alberta Center for Injury Control and Research

Co-Investigator(s):

Kien Hue Quan, Bcom Graduate student, Department of Public Health Sciences 13-109, Clinical Sciences Building University of Alberta (780)-492-7349

Purpose:

The purpose of this research project is to study how well a computer system can collect injury data. The NorthEast Community Health Center is chosen as a location to see whether the system will work for the Edmonton health region. Once the computer system is set up and works well, other hospitals will use the system. Injury information can thus be put to use in injury prevention program.

Background:

Injury is the leading cause of death for people under the age of 44. Although the usage of computers has increased in health care, injury-related computer system is still not complete. Hospital emergency room injury data is able to help local community to do injury control and prevention program. The benefit of this project is to find a way to collect good injury data. This will help policy-makers to make decisions.



University of Alberta

Procedures:

- 1. You visit the NorthEast Community Health Center's emergency room. Nurse at the front desk checks how serious you are hurt
- 2. Registration clerk at the desk asks few information about yourself: your name, age, where you live etc.
- 3. If your emergency room visit is injury-related, staff will ask you the following questions:
 - What went wrong?
 - What was the cause of injury?
 - Where and when did it happen
 - Where did it hurt?
 - What were you doing when it happened?
 - Was it related to some sort of consumer product?

All these information are entered directly into the computer.

- 4. To make sure the information is correct, a staff from the centre phones you the next day and checks your answers to the above questions. A consent form will be provided to ask for your permission to do the phone call.
- 5. Before you make decision whether or not you want to be part of the study, you are shown this information sheet which explains the purpose of the study. If you decide to take part in the study, please sign the consent form. You could refuse to answer any question listed above. The care you receive in the emergency room is not affected by your decision.
- 6. All information in the consent form is kept in secure place for at least five years. Only the research team will have access to this information. Your name or any other identifying information will not be used in any report format of the study results.

Note: The telephone interview should not take more than 10 minutes of your time.

Risks:

There are no risks to you by taking part in this study.

Confidentiality:

Only the research team has access to the information you provide. Health information guidelines of confidentiality are followed throughout this study. All information will be held confidential except when professional codes of ethics and/or legislation require reporting.



Freedom to withdraw:

You have the choice to withdraw from this project at anytime and do not have to give a reason. There is no effect to the care you receive at the emergency room.

Contacts:

You will be able to make comments about this project. The project investigators can be reached at the above phone numbers. Concerns can also be forwarded to the "Patient Relations Department of the capital Health Authority" at 407-1040. This office has no affiliation with the project investigators

Department of Public Health Sciences

•



Appendix B (For NorthEast Community Health Centre staff including physicians, nurses, and registration clerks)

Title of Project: Implementation of an Injury Surveillance System at a Local Community Health Center Emergency Room

Principal Investigator(s):

Dr. Louis H. Francescutti, MD, PhD, MPH Assistant Professor, Department of Public Health Sciences & Division of Emergency Medicine, University of Alberta Phone (780)-492-6546 Chair to the Advisory Board of the Alberta Center for Injury Control and Research

Co-Investigator(s):

Kien Hue Quan, Bcom Graduate student, Department of Public Health Sciences 13-109, Clinical Sciences Building University of Alberta (780)-492-7349

Purpose:

The purpose of this research project is to examine computer system implementation, use and consequences of an injury surveillance system (ISS) on work pattern in an emergency room (ER) setting. It also studies how well a computer system can collect injury data. The NorthEast Community Health Centre is chosen as a pilot location for the Edmonton health region. Once the computer system is set up and data collection efficiency is proven, the system implementation pattern will be used as a template for other capital health hospital ER. Injury information can thus be put to use in injury prevention program. Methods:

The project collects both quantitative and qualitative data. Qualitative data are primarily collected from meetings, observations, training sessions, data entry and face-to-face interviews. Study subjects are key users who participated in the implementation of the ISS i.e. physicians, nurses, and registration clerks. Quantitative data are related to injury data quality assessment. Interview guides are developed in a structured format with questions and multiple choice check boxes.



Background:

Injury is the leading cause of death for people under the age of 44. In Alberta, there were 1,358 deaths and 31,471 hospitalisations in 1996. Although the number of health information systems has increased in recent years, injury-related information system is fragmented. Hospital emergency room injury data represent an important but underused source of information. Injury data is able to help local community to develop and injury control and prevention program.

The benefit of this project is to determine an efficient way of collecting good quality injury data. Once data are gathered, it can be distributed to policy-makers to put these data into action.

Procedures:

- 7. Meetings are conducted with key users on user expectations and technological capabilities.
- 8. Observations on key user practices are done during data collections.
- 9. During training sessions, issues related to technology understanding, individuals' cognitive frames when facing new technology are raised.
- 10. There are two phases of interviews: before and after system implementation. The first is conducted shortly after user training. The second is scheduled after the data collection trial
- 11. Interviewees include physicians, nurses and registration clerks.
- 12. The interview guides contain specific issues to be discussed with the respondent e.g. reasons for introducing the system, diversity of tactics adopted to ensure a successful implementation, injury data collection impacts on work pattern etc All these information are entered directly into the computer.
- 13. You are asked to sign a consent form to see if you are willing to participate in the study
- 14. You should read this information sheet first. You can choose whether or not you want to sign the consent form.
- 15. Once you agree to take part in the study, you will be given this information sheet and the consent form. Only the researchers will have access to this information

Note: The interview should not take more than 10 minutes of your time.



Risks:

There are no risks to you by taking part in this study.

Confidentiality:

Only the investigators of this study have access to the information you provide. Health information guidelines of confidentiality are followed throughout this study.

Freedom to withdraw:

You have the choice to withdraw from this project at anytime and do not have to give a reason. There is no effect to you by withdrawing your participation in the study.

Contacts:

You will be able to make comments about this project. The project investigators can be reached at the above phone numbers.



Appendix B (For HASS developer, ED project team members, and other NECHC staff)

Title of Project: Implementation of an Injury Surveillance System at a Local Community Health Center Emergency Room

Principal Investigator(s):

Dr. Louis H. Francescutti, MD, PhD, MPH Assistant Professor, Department of Public Health Sciences & Division of Emergency Medicine, University of Alberta Phone (780)-492-6546 Chair to the Advisory Board of the Alberta Center for Injury Control and Research

Co-Investigator(s):

Kien Hue Quan, Bcom Graduate student, Department of Public Health Sciences 13-109, Clinical Sciences Building University of Alberta (780)-492-7349

Purpose:

The purpose of this research project is to examine computer system implementation, use and consequences of an injury surveillance system (ISS) on work pattern in an emergency room (ER) setting. It also studies how well a computer system can collect injury data. The NorthEast Community Health Centre is chosen as a pilot location for the Edmonton health region. Once the computer system is set up and data collection efficiency is proven, the system implementation pattern will be used as a template for other capital health hospital ER. Injury information can thus be put to use in injury prevention program. Methods:

The project collects both quantitative and qualitative data. Qualitative data are primarily collected from meetings and face-to-face interviews. Study subjects are NECHC champions, ER project team members, and HASS developer who participate in the implementation of the ISS. Quantitative data are related to injury data quality assessment. Interview guides are developed in a structured format.



Background:

Injury is the leading cause of death for people under the age of 44. In Alberta, there were 1,358 deaths and 31,471 hospitalisations in 1996. Although the number of health information systems has increased in recent years, injury-related information system is fragmented. Hospital emergency room injury data represent an important but underused source of information. Injury data is able to help local community to develop and injury control and prevention program.

The benefit of this project is to determine an efficient way of collecting good quality injury data. Once data are gathered, it can be distributed to policy-makers to put these data into action.

Procedures:

- 16. Meetings are conducted with key project members on system implementation process, in-service arrangement and scheduling, and data element development.
- 17. The interview guides contain specific issues to be discussed with the respondent: their perceptions of promoting the surveillance system, user acceptance, staff's strength and belief, expectations on technological capabilities. All these information are entered directly into the second start.
 - All these information are entered directly into the computer.
- 18. You are asked to sign a consent form to see if you are willing to participate in the study
- 19. You should read this information sheet first. You can choose whether or not you want to sign the consent form.
- 20. Once you agree to take part in the study, you will be given this information sheet and the consent form. Only the researchers will have access to this information

Note: The interview should not take more than 10 minutes of your time.

Risks:

There are no risks to you by taking part in this study.



Confidentiality:

Only the investigators of this study have access to the information you provide. Health information guidelines of confidentiality are followed throughout this study.

Freedom to withdraw:

You have the choice to withdraw from this project at anytime and do not have to give a reason. There is no effect to you by withdrawing your participation in the study.

Contacts:

You will be able to make comments about this project. The project investigators can be reached at the above phone numbers.



University of Alberta Phone (780)-492-7349

Part 1 (to be completed by the Principal Investigator):

Title of Project: Implementation of an Injury Surveillance System at a Local Community Health Center Emergency Room

Dr. Louis H. Francescutti, MD, PhD, MPH		
Assistant Professor, Department of Public Health Sciences		
& Division of Emergency Medicine, University of Alberta		
Phone (780)-492-6546		
Chair to the Advisory Board of the Alberta Center for		
Injury Control and Research		
Kien Hue Quan, BCom		
Graduate student, Department of Public Health Sciences		
13-109, Clinical Sciences Building		

Part 2 (to be completed by patients):

Do you understand that you have been asked to be in a research study?	Yes	No
Have you read and received a copy of the attached Information Sheet?	Yes	No
Do you understand the benefits and risks involved in taking part in this research study?	Yes	No
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?	Yes	No
Do you understand that you are free to refuse to participate or withdraw from the study at any time? You do not have to give a reason and it will not affect your care.	Yes	No
Has the issue of confidentiality been explained to you? Do you understand who will have access to your records?	Yes	No
Do you want the investigator(s) to inform your family doctor that you are participating in this research study? If so, please provide your doctor's name:	Yes	No

	(N.B. This question	on is optional).
This study was explained to me by:		
I agree to take part in this study.		
Signature of Research Participant	Date	Witness
Printed Name	Pr	inted Name
I believe that the person signing this for voluntarily agrees to participate.	rm understands what is	involved in the study and

Date

Signature of Investigator or Designee

Department	t of I	Public	Health	Sciences
------------	--------	--------	--------	----------



Part 1 (to be completed by the Principal Investigator):

Title of Project: Implementation of an Injury Surveillance System at a Local Community Health Center Emergency Room

Principal Investigator(s):	Dr. Louis H. Francescutti, MD, PhD, MPH		
	Assistant Professor, Department of Public Health Sciences		
	& Division of Emergency Medicine, University of Alberta		
	Phone (780)-492-6546		
	Chair to the Advisory Board of the Alberta Center for		
	Injury Control and Research		
Co-Investigator(s):	Kien Hue Quan, BCom		

Graduate student, Department of Public Health Sciences 13-109, Clinical Sciences Building University of Alberta Phone (780)-492-7349

Part 2 (to be completed by the NECHC physicians, nurses, and registration clerks):

Do you understand that you have been asked to be in a research study?	Yes	No
Have you read and received a copy of the attached Information Sheet?	Yes	No
Do you understand the benefits and risks involved in taking part in this research study?	Yes	No
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?	Yes	No
Do you understand that you are free to refuse to participate or withdraw from the study at any time? You do not have to give a reason.	Yes	No
Has the issue of confidentiality been explained to you? Do you understand who will have access to your records?	Yes	No

This study was explained to me by:

I agree to take part in this study.

Signature of Research Participant	Date	Witness
Printed Name	- <u></u>]	Printed Name
I believe that the person signing this for voluntarily agrees to participate.	orm understands what	is involved in the study and

Signature	of	Investigator	or	Designee
-----------	----	--------------	----	----------

Date



Part 1 (to be completed by the Principal Investigator):

Title of Project: Implementation of an Injury Surveillance System at a Local Community Health Center Emergency Room

- Principal Investigator(s): Dr. Louis H. Francescutti, MD, PhD, MPH Assistant Professor, Department of Public Health Sciences & Division of Emergency Medicine, University of Alberta Phone (780)-492-6546 Chair to the Advisory Board of the Alberta Center for Injury Control and Research
 Co-Investigator(s): Kien Hue Over PCerr
- Co-Investigator(s): Kien Hue Quan, BCom Graduate student, Department of Public Health Sciences 13-109, Clinical Sciences Building University of Alberta Phone (780)-492-7349

Part 2 (to be completed by the HASS developer, ER project team members, and other NECHC staff):

Do you understand that you have been asked to be in a research study?	Yes	No
Have you read and received a copy of the attached Information Sheet?	Yes	No
Do you understand the benefits and risks involved in taking part in this research study?	Yes	No
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?	Yes	No
Do you understand that you are free to refuse to participate or withdraw from the study at any time? You do not have to give a reason.	Yes	No
Has the issue of confidentiality been explained to you? Do you understand who will have access to your records?	Yes	No

This study was explained to me by:

I agree to take part in this study.

Signature of Research Participant	Date	Witness
Printed Name	P	rinted Name
I believe that the person signing this for voluntarily agrees to participate.	rm understands what is	s involved in the study and

Signature of Investigator or Designee

Date